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Chairman’s Statement

Mr. Ngan Hei Keung
Chairman

Madam Pauline Ngan, BBS, JP

Deputy Chairman and Managing Director

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Mainland Headwear Holdings Limited (the “Company”), I am 
pleased to present the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, “Mainland 
Headwear” or the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023.

OVERVIEW

In 2023, affected by the tense international situation and slower economic growth in major markets 
such as the United States and Europe, procurement activities became more cautious. At the same 
time, overall retail sales fell short of expectations as the market continued to clear inventory from 
last year’s overbuying. Amid this challenging operating environment, the Group utilized its quick 
production and delivery capabilities and secured a large number of quick-turn orders with higher 
selling prices. In addition, the Group’s focus on streamlining management and improving efficiency 
resulted in effective cost control, and the gross profit margin remained stable during the year. The 
new factory in Mexico was completed and commenced production in mid-December, laying a solid 
foundation for the Group to fully leverage its advantage of rapid production and expand its market 
share in the headwear market.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the year, the Group’s revenue was HK$1,418,994,000 (2022: HK$1,874,424,000). Gross 
profit was HK$476,364,000 (2022: HK$637,296,000), down by 25.3% year-on-year. As a result 
of the Group’s effective cost control measures, the gross profit margin decreased slightly by 
0.4 percentage points to 33.6% (2022: 34.0%). Profit attributable to shareholders amounted to 
HK$117,949,000 (2022: HK$195,390,000), representing a year-on-year decrease of 39.6%. The 
Board has resolved to recommend a final dividend of 6 HK cents per share for the year ended 31 
December 2023 (2022: final dividend of 6 HK cents). Together with the interim dividend of 3 HK 
cents per share (2022: interim dividend of 3 HK cents), the total dividend for the year amounted to 9 
HK cents (2022: 9 HK cents).

The Group maintained a healthy financial position, with stable operating cash flows. It also held 
cash on hand and unutilized banking facilities, amounting to approximately HK$317,849,000 
and HK$733,700,000, respectively, as at 31 December 2023 (2022: HK$246,949,000 and 
HK$579,600,000, respectively).

BUSINESS REVIEW

Manufacturing Business

As one of the few manufacturers in the headwear market capable of quick production and delivery, 
the Group boasts advanced automated production facilities, and a large number of skillful workers in 
its Bangladesh factory, with a monthly production capacity of 6 million pieces. The Shenzhen factory 
continued to focus on the design, development and production of high-end headwear products.

During the year, purchasing activity slowed significantly as retailers in Europe and the United States 
were still digesting last year’s inventory backlog. Consumer sentiment was also suppressed by 
factors such as interest rate hikes, resulting in a weak retail market. Revenue from the Manufacturing 
Business amounted to HK$821,760,000 (2022: HK$1,127,566,000), representing a year-on-year 
decrease of 27.1%. The segment’s operating profit was HK$186,886,000 (2022: HK$309,750,000), 
down by 39.7% year-on-year. The share of revenue contribution of Manufacturing Business to the 
Group’s total revenue was 57.9% (2022: 60.2%).

During the year, the Group vigorously optimized the operational flow of its factories and made use 
of automated production equipment to reduce production costs while leveraging the complementary 
advantages of each factory to maintain high gross profit margins.

In addition, the Group built a new factory in Mexico during the year to further bolster its production 
capacity, especially in terms of quick-turn orders, and explore new customer segments. The new 
plant is located in Sonora, Mexico. Situated less than two kilometers away from the United States 
border, it significantly shortens the lead time for products destined for the United States, and 
reduces logistics costs and tariffs associated with such orders. The new plant was completed and 
put into operation at the end of last year as scheduled.

As at 31 December 2023, there were approximately 7,600 and 300 employees in the Bangladesh 
and Shenzhen factories, respectively (2022: approximately 9,000 and 300 employees). The new 
plant in Mexico had approximately 100 employees.
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Trading Business

The Group’s subsidiaries of the Trading Business boast a product portfolio covering headwear and 
accessories such as wallet and belt, both under its own brand and as licensed products. During the 
year, sales were sluggish due to the downturn in the retail market and continued inventory digestion, 
with revenue decreasing by 20.0% to HK$597,234,000 (2022: HK$746,858,000), accounting for 
42.1% of the Group’s total revenue.

The trading segment actively sought measures to optimize its manpower structure and improve 
operational efficiency to control sales and distribution costs, as well as administrative expenses. 
However, the decrease in sales revenue exceeded the reduction in costs, resulting in an operating 
loss of HK$56,563,000 (2022: HK$59,079,000).

PROSPECTS

Given the unstable international situation and challenging economic environment, coupled with 
concerns about political changes due to general elections in countries such as the United States, 
consumer demand for sports events is expected to decline significantly, which may affect sales of 
sports related products in Europe and the United States. However, the destocking cycle, which has 
lasted for more than half a year, is coming to an end, and the market showed signs of recovery in 
the fourth quarter of last year. With its edge in quick production and solid customer partnerships, 
the Group’s production efficiency and competitiveness have been further strengthened after its new 
plant in Mexico commenced operation. Therefore, the Group remains cautiously optimistic about the 
sales outlook for consumer products such as headwear in 2024.

The Mexico plant will actively explore new customers in the country and the United States, and 
create synergies with the plant in Bangladesh, thus jointly strengthening the Group’s production 
efficiency. The close proximity to the United States offers the advantages of fast delivery and 
lower logistics costs in serving the American market. Although the production cost is higher, there 
is huge room to produce and sell products with higher selling prices and in small quantities. The 
Bangladesh factory holds an advantage in mass production of cheaper products, and will continue 
to focus on handling large-volume orders. Complementary to each other, the two plants enable the 
Group to take advantage of the time difference to achieve round-the-clock production, handling 
urgent orders promptly and achieving higher profits. It is expected that by the end of this year, 
the workforce at the Mexico plant will increase to approximately 1,000 employees, with a monthly 
production capacity reaching 1 million pieces.

To further enhance production efficiency, the Bangladesh factory commenced the production of 
accessories such as wallets and belts in the first quarter of this year. These finished products are 
available for sale through the Trading Business, which can save costs on external procurement and 
achieves faster delivery, leveraging the synergies of the Group’s combined production and trading 
capabilities.
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For the Trading Business, the Group will continue to optimize its product mix and operational 
efficiency. In January 2024, the Group acquired a property in Missouri, the United States to use as a 
warehouse, which is expected to be put into use in the fourth quarter of 2024. Once operational, the 
spacious facility will not only help to avoid rental expenses for third-party offices and warehouses, 
but also help to improve operational efficiency and meet the future development of the Group’s 
trading business.

The Group also plans to leverage the geographical advantage of the Mexican plant to  develop 
cross-border e-commerce logistics business to extend the supply chain layout and create new 
sources of income.

In response to the operational challenges posed by the increase in minimum wage by about 60% 
in Bangladesh since December 2023 and the rising raw material prices, the Group will continue to 
implement various cost control measures, streamline the operating structure, improve efficiency, 
broaden the supply chain and localize procurement in order to ease the pressure of rising costs and 
mitigate supply risks.

The Group has established a solid and long-term business relationship with leading retail brands. 
In the future, it will focus on the sustainable development of the Company, implement strategies to 
stabilize prices for customers and protect its premium brand image.

Over the past 37 years, Mainland Headwear has weathered various economic cycles and 
challenges and become a market leader in the headwear manufacturing industry. With its leading 
market position, diversified production layout, broad product portfolio ranging from headwear 
to accessories, and business acumen, the Group is confident that it can overcome the various 
challenges and create long-term value for its customers and shareholders.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to take this opportunity to extend my heartfelt gratitude to our shareholders, staff, 
customers and suppliers for their long-term support to the Group. Looking ahead, we will strive to 
further strengthen ties and achieve win-win with all stakeholders.

Ngan Hei Keung
Chairman

Hong Kong
26 March 2024
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had cash and cash equivalents, short-term deposits and a 
portfolio of liquid investments totaling Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) 331.0 million (2022: HK$268.5 
million). About 65.4% and 19.4% of these liquid funds were denominated in United States dollars 
and Renminbi respectively and the remaining were mainly in Bangladesh Taka, Pound Sterling and 
Hong Kong dollars.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had banking facilities of HK$842.7 million (2022: HK$788.7 
million), of which HK$733.7 million (2022: HK$579.5 million) was not utilised.

The borrowings over equity ratio of the Group was 13.8% (2022: 22.8%). In view of the strong 
financial and liquidity position, the Group have sufficient financial resources to meet its commitments 
and working capital requirements.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

During the year, the Group incurred approximately HK$145.4 million (2022: HK$123.8 million) 
on construction of a factory in Mexico, and additions to plant and equipment to upgrade its 
manufacturing capability and expansion in the Bangladesh factory. The Group also incurred HK$2.3 
million (2022: HK$5.3 million) on equipments and systems of Trading business.
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The Group budgeted HK$262.0 million for capital expenditures in 2024, of which HK$133.6 million 
is estimated to be used for the construction of a warehouse and dormitory in Mexico and expansion 
in the Bangladesh under Manufacturing business. The Group also authorised a capital commitment 
of HK$128.4 million for the acquisition of a warehouse in Missouri, the USA and the equipment 
upgrades for Trading business. As at 31 December 2023, the Group has capital expenditure 
contracted but not provided for of HK$3.9 million (2022: HK$10.5 million).

The above capital expenditure is expected to be financed by internal resources of the Group and 
banking facilities.

EXCHANGE RISK

Most assets and liabilities of the Group are denominated either in Hong Kong dollars, United States 
dollars, Renminbi or Bangladesh Taka. The Group estimates that any 1% appreciation of the Bangladesh 
Taka is expected to reduce the gross margin of the Manufacturing Business by about 0.28%. As rental 
income in the PRC and domestic sales grow, the expected positive contribution provides a hedge 
against the adverse effect of any appreciation of Renminbi to the manufacturing costs.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

At 31 December 2023, the Group employed 357 (2022: 397) employees in the PRC (include Hong 
Kong), 7,631 (2022: 8,802) employees in Bangladesh, 101 employees in Mexico (2022: nil) and 
a total of 162 (2022: 183) employees in the USA and the United Kingdom. The expenditures for 
employees during the year were approximately HK$343.1 million (2022: HK$398.8 million). The Group 
ensures that the pay levels of its employees are competitive and employees were remunerated based 
on their position and performance. Key employees of the Group, including Directors, are also granted 
share options under the share option schemes operated by the Company.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ngan Hei Keung

aged 68, is the Chairman of the Company and co-founder of the Group. Mr. Ngan is responsible 

for the production activities of the Group. Mr. Ngan obtained a bachelor degree from 福建農業學
院 (Fujian Agricultural College) (now known as 福建農林大學 (Fujian Agricultural University, the “FA 
University”)) in 1982 and currently is a guest professor of the FA University. Mr. Ngan has over 30 
years of experience in the headwear industry. Mr. Ngan was a director of Yan Oi Tong in 2007. Mr. 
Ngan is the spouse of Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP and the father of Mr. Andrew Ngan and 
Mr. Ngan Siu Hon Alexander.

Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP

aged 64, is the Deputy Chairman and Managing Director of the Company and co-founder of the 
Group. She is responsible for the marketing activities of the Manufacturing Business. She has over 
30 years of experience in the headwear industry. She is the member of the National Committee 
of CPPCC, the ex-officio member and ex-officio executive committee of Heung Yee Kuk New 
Territories, the standing committee member of the Chinese General Chamber of Commerce, member 
of Advisory Board of Po Leung Kuk, the president honoris causa of Hong Kong Young Industrials 
Council, the honorary president and executive vice president of Hong Kong Federation of Overseas 
Chinese Association, the committee member of All-China Women’s Federation, the standing 
committee member of All-China Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese. She was the Hong Kong 
Deputy to the 12th and 13th National People’s Congress, People’s Republic of China, the chairman 
of Po Leung Kuk and Yan Oi Tong and the president of Hong Kong Young Industrialists Council. 
Madam Ngan is the winner of Young Industrialist Awards of Hongkong 2001. She was awarded 
the Bronze Bauhinia Star in the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region 2009 Honours List and 
JP (Justice of the Peace) title in 2013. Madam Ngan is the spouse of Mr. Ngan Hei Keung and the 
mother of Mr. Andrew Ngan and Mr. Ngan Siu Hon Alexander.

Mr. James S. Patterson

aged 53, was appointed as Executive Director of the Company in April 2009. Mr. Patterson 
graduated from the State University of New York at Buffalo, Buffalo, NY, USA and completed a 
Bachelor Degree in Economics. Mr. Patterson has been employed for more than 20 years with New 
Era Cap LLC (“New Era”), a US based company which is engaged in the global marketing, sale, and 
manufacturing of headwear and apparel. Mr. Patterson is the President of Global Operations of New 
Era.



Mainland Headwear Holdings Limited10

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Ngan Siu Hon Alexander

aged 33, joined the Company in November 2014 and appointed as the Executive Director of 
the Company in 2015. Mr. Ngan was appointed as Chief Strategic Officer in February 2024. He 
graduated from Purdue University, West Lafayette, Indiana, USA with a Bachelor of Science degree 
in Economics. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Ngan worked at a well-known investment bank in 
Hong Kong. He is the son of Mr. Ngan Hei Keung and Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP and 
brother of Mr. Andrew Ngan.

Mr. Lai Man Sing, Thomas

aged 56, firstly joined the Company during July 1999 to May 2001, rejoined the Company in March 
2008 and was appointed as Executive Director of the Company in December 2019. He is the Chief 
Financial Officer of the Company and in charge of the finance department. Mr. Lai obtained his 
first degree from London School of Economics and Political Science, University of London, UK and 
earned a Master degree in Business Administration from University of Western Sydney, Australia. He 
is a Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) charterholder. He is also a fellow member of the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of The Australian Society of Certified 
Practising Accountants. He took senior financial position for sizable listed companies and worked 
in international accounting field for many years. Mr. Lai is presently an independent non-executive 
director of Fu Shek Financial Holdings Limited which is listed on the main board of the Stock 
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. Andrew Ngan

aged 36, was the non-executive director of the Company from July 2011 to June 2017. Mr. Ngan 
was appointed as Executive Director of the Company in January 2024. He is now the Continuous 
Improvement Director of the Group, responsible for enhancement of business development. Mr. 
Ngan graduated from the Carnegie Mellon University, Pittsburgh, USA. He completed a Bachelor of 
Science Degree in Information Systems in 2010. He is a Director of Po Leung Kuk since 2018. He 
is now the Committee Member of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of Hunan 
Province, member of Hunan Youth Federation and director of the Hong Kong Youth Association of 
Fujian Overseas Friendship Association. He is the son of Mr. Ngan Hei Keung and Madam Ngan Po 
Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP and the brother of Mr. Ngan Siu Hon, Alexander.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Gordon Ng

aged 59, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in September 
2014. He obtained his Bachelor’s degree in Microbiology and Biochemistry and Master’s degree in 
Intellectual Property from University of London. He was qualified as a solicitor in England and Wales 
in 1993 and Hong Kong in 1994. He has been the Head of Corporate Finance/Capital Market, Asia 
of the Hong Kong Office of an international law firm since July 2013. Prior to that, he had been a 
partner of a number of international law firms. Mr. Ng is presently an independent non-executive 
director of China Energine International (Holdings) Limited and ZTE Corporation which are listed on 
the main board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Cheung Tei Sing Jamie

aged 53, was appointed as Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in September 
2023. He is also an executive director and the Vice Chairman of Somerley Capital Holdings Limited 
(HKEx: 8439) (“SCHL”). Mr. Cheung has over 20 years’ experience in corporate finance. Mr. 
Cheung obtained a Bachelor of Commerce degree from The University of New South Wales and 
obtained from the Australian Graduate School of Management the degree of Master of Business 
Administration. Mr. Cheung is a member of CPA Australia. Prior to joining SCHL, Mr. Cheung worked 
in the audit department of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as an accountant.

Mr. Li Yinquan

aged 68, was appointed as Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in September 
2023. He has been serving as independent non-executive director of Genertec Universal Medical 
Group Company Limited (HKEx: 2666) since June 2015, Million Cities Holdings Limited (HKEx: 
2892) since June 2018, Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited (HKEx: 1001) since July 
2018 and China Everbright Bank Company Limited (HKEx: 6818; SSE: 601818) since June 2020. 
Mr. Li served respectively as the General Manager of Financial Department, Chief Financial Officer, 
Vice President of China Merchants Group, CEO of China Merchants Capital Investment Co., Ltd, 
a director of China Merchants Holdings (International) Company Limited, a director of China 
Merchants Bank Co., Ltd., a director of China Merchants China Direct Investments Limited from 
2000 to 2017. Mr. Li also served as an independent non-executive director of Lizhi Inc. (NASDAQ: 
LIZI) from January 2020 to June 2021 and Kimou Environmental Holdings Limited (HKEx: 6805) from 
July 2019 to December 2022. Mr. Li received his bachelor’s degree in economics from Shaanxi 
Institute of Finance and Economics, master’s degree in economics from Graduate School of the 
People’s Bank of China and master’s degree in banking and finance for development from Finafrica 
Institute in Milan, Italy.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Maggie Gu

aged 46, first joined the Company during May 2003 to May 2008 and rejoined in February 2009. 
Ms. Gu is the Chief Operating Officer of the Company. She studied in United States of America, 
and graduated from the California State University Fullerton, with the degree of Bachelor of Arts in 
Communications. She managed the global marketing department with a reputable media company 
in US before she returned to Hong Kong. She is now responsible for the strategy formulation and 
direction of global marketing and business development of the Group and oversees the Company’s 
daily operations.

Mr. Shah S. Anam

aged 66, is the Managing Director of Unimas Sportswear Ltd. in Bangladesh. Mr. Anam graduated 
from the Sam Houston State University of Texas USA. Prior to joining his family business Pro Sports 
Limited in 2008, Mr. Anam has been employed for more than 10 years with PaineWebber & Co (now 
UBS) a US based company which is engaged in the Investment banking and stock brokerage.

Mr. Randall Gross

aged 68, joined Aquarius Ltd in 2001. He is now the Chief Executive Officer of Aquarius Ltd, H3 
Sportgear, LLC and San Diego Hat Company. He has spent 6 years in Retail Management and 
has over 35 years of Accessories experience. He had worked for several worldwide, well-known 
accessories brands. He holds a Bachelor of Science in Business Management from Temple 
University.

Mr. Courtney Bush

aged 48, joined San Diego Hat Company in 1998. He is the Chief Operating Officer of Aquarius 
Ltd, H3 Sportgear, LLC and San Diego Hat Company. Mr. Bush has over 20 years experience in all 
aspects of the headwear and accessories business.

Mr. Raj Kapoor

aged 63, joined the Group in March 2005 when the Group set up its subsidiary in the UK. He is 
the managing director of the Group’s Europe operations. Mr. Kapoor obtained a bachelor degree 
from the University of Newcastle Upon Tyne in the United Kingdom (“UK”) and has over 20 years of 
experience in the headwear industry in Europe.

Mr. Michael Ball

aged 55, joined the Company in 2010. He is the sales director of the Group’s Europe operations. He 
has more than 20 years experience in the sales and marketing of headwear products.

Mr. Lau Ka Fai, Edward

aged 57, joined the Company in February 2009 and is the Product Development Director. Mr. Lau 
graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as Hong Kong Polytechnic University) with 
a Bachelor of Arts in Fashion Design (with commendation). He holds a Master Degree in Business 
Administration in Management from Southeastern University Washington, DC. He is also a Diploma 
Member of the Chartered Society of Designers London. He has worked in creative and design areas 
within several global buying offices for more than 20 years and is now responsible for design and 
product development in the US and Asia.
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The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance practices. 
The Board considers shareholders can maximise their benefits from good corporate governance. 
The Board is of the view that the Company had adopted the principles and complied with all code 
provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of 
the Rules (the “Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong 
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) during the year ended 31 December 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES AND THE COMPANY’S PRACTICES

A. Directors

A.1. Board of Directors

An issuer should be headed by an effective board which should assume responsibility for 
leadership and control of the issuer and be collectively responsible for promoting the success 
of the issuer by directing and supervising the issuer’s affairs. Directors should take decisions 
objectively in the interests of the issuer.

The major role of the Board is to direct and supervise the administration and management of 
the Group, establish its strategic directions and set business development plans. It authorises 
and delegates certain responsibilities to the chief executive and management for the day-to-
day operation of the Group.

Regular Board meetings are held at quarterly intervals. In addition, special Board meetings 
will be held when necessary. Attendance of individual Directors at shareholders’ meetings, 
board meetings, nomination committee meetings, remuneration committee meetings and audit 
committee meetings in 2023 are as follows:

Shareholders’ 
Meeting

Board
Meeting

Nomination 
Committee 

Meeting

Remuneration 
Committee 

Meeting

Audit 
Committee 

Meeting       
Number of meetings 1 4 2 2 2

Executive Directors
Mr. Ngan Hei Keung (Chairman) 1/1 2/4 1/2 N/A N/A
Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline,  

BBS, JP
(Deputy Chairman and 

Managing Director)
1/1 3/4 N/A 1/2 N/A

Mr. James S. Patterson 0/1 3/4 N/A N/A N/A
Mr. Ngan Siu Hon, Alexander (Chief Strategic Officer) 1/1 4/4 2/2 2/2 N/A
Mr. Lai Man Sing (Chief Financial Officer) 1/1 4/4 N/A N/A N/A
Mr. Andrew Ngan  

(appointed on 4 January 2024)
0/0 0/0 N/A N/A N/A

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Leung Shu Yin, William  

(resigned on 1 September 2023)
1/1 4/4 2/2 2/2 2/2

Mr. Liu Tieh Ching, Brandon, JP  
(resigned on 1 September 2023)

0/1 1/4 1/2 1/2 1/2

Mr. Gordon Ng 1/1 3/4 2/2 2/2 2/2
Mr. Cheung Tei Sing, Jamie  

(appointed on 1 September 2023)
0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0

Mr. Li Yinquan  
(appointed on 1 September 2023)

0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0

Directors are consulted to include matters in the agenda for regular Board meetings.
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Dates of regular Board meetings are scheduled at least 14 days in advance to provide 
sufficient notice to give all Directors an opportunity to attend. For all other Board meetings, 
reasonable notice will be given.

Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary to ensure that 
Board procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations, are followed.

Minutes of the Board, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination 
Committee are kept by the Company Secretary. Minutes are open for inspection at any 
reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director.

Minutes of the Board and Board Committees have recorded in sufficient detail the matters 
considered by the Board and the Committees, decisions reached, including any concerns 
raised by Directors or dissenting views expressed. Draft and final versions of minutes of the 
Board are sent to all Directors for their comments and records respectively.

The Board shall resolve to provide separate independent professional advice to Directors to 
assist Directors to discharge their duties at the Company’s expense.

A.2. Chairman and Chief Executive

There are two key aspects of the management of every issuer — the management of the board 
and the day-to-day management of the issuer’s business. There should be a clear division of 
these responsibilities at the board level to ensure a balance of power and authority, so that 
power is not concentrated in any one individual.

Code Provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive should be 
separate and should not be performed by the same individual.

Mr. Ngan Hei Keung is the Chairman of the Company. Mr. Ngan oversees the management 
of the manufacturing facilities of the Group and also provides leadership for the Board. He 
ensures that the Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities, and that all key and 
appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely manner. Mr. Ngan is also responsible 
to ensure that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings and that 
all Directors receive adequate information, which must be complete and reliable, in a timely 
manner. Mr. Ngan is the husband of Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP.

Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP is the Deputy Chairman and Managing Director of 
the Company. She is responsible for the marketing activities of the Group’s Manufacturing 
Business. Madam Ngan is the wife of Mr. Ngan Hei Keung.

The Board considers that there is adequate segregation of duties within the Board to ensure a 
balance of power and authority.
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A.3. Board Composition

The board should have a balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements 
of the business of the issuer. The board should ensure that changes to its composition can 
be managed without undue disruption. The board should include a balanced composition 
of executive and non-executive directors (including independent non-executive directors) 
so that there is a strong independent element on the board, which can effectively exercise 
independent judgement. Nonexecutive directors should be of sufficient calibre and number for 
their views to carry weight.

The Board comprises six executive Directors, namely Mr. Ngan Hei Keung, Madam Ngan Po 
Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP, Mr. James S. Patterson, Mr. Ngan Siu Hon, Alexander, Mr. Lai Man Sing 
and Mr. Andrew Ngan; and three independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Gordon 
Ng, Mr. Cheung Tei Sing, Jamie and Mr. Li Yinquan. All Directors are expressly identified by 
categories of executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors, in all corporate 
communications that disclose the names of Directors of the Company.

The Company has complied with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules in relation to the 
appointment of a sufficient number of independent non-executive directors and an independent 
non-executive director with appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related 
financial management expertise. The number of independent non-executive Directors of the 
Company also represents at least one-third of the Board in compliance with Rule 3.10A of the 
Listing Rules.

According to Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, it is recommended that serving more than nine 
years could be relevant to the determination of a non-executive director’s independence. If 
an independent non-executive director serves more than nine years, any further appointment 
of such independent non-executive director should be subject to a separate resolution to be 
approved by shareholders.

Mr. Gordon Ng has been appointed as independent non-executive Director for nine year. The 
Company has received from Mr. Ng confirmation of independence according to Rule 3.13 of 
the Listing Rules. Mr. Ng has not engaged in any executive management of the Group. Taking 
into consideration of their independent scope of work in the past years, the Directors consider 
Mr. Ng to be independent under the Listing Rules despite the fact that he has served the 
Company for more than nine years. The Board believes that Mr. Ng’s continued tenure brings 
considerable stability to the Board and the Board has benefited greatly from the contribution of 
Mr. Ng in relation to his extensive experience in legal field.

Apart from Mr. Gordon Ng, Mr. Cheung Tei Sing, Jamie and Mr. Li Yinquan being the other two 
independent non-executive Directors, have also provided annual confirmations to the Company 
in relation to their independence under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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Biographies which include relationships of Directors are set out in pages 9 to 12 of the annual 
report, which demonstrate a diversity of skills, expertise, experience and qualifications among 
members of the Board.

All Directors attended Corporate Governance training course organised by the Company’s legal 
advisers, or read the materials provided by the Company’s legal advisers during the year under 
review.

The Chairman has held one meeting with all the independent non-executive Directors without 
the presence of other executive Directors to discuss the Company’s business during the year 
under review.

A.4. Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognises that increasing diversity at the Board level will support the attainment 
of the Company’s strategic objectives and sustainable development.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out the approach to achieve and 
maintain diversity on the Board.

Pursuant to the board diversity policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through 
the consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to cultural and educational 
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and other qualities. The 
Company also takes into consideration its own business model and specific needs from time to 
time in determining the optimal composition of the Board.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company maintained an effective Board 
comprising members of different genders, professional background and industry experience. 
The board diversity policy was consistently implemented during the year. As at the date of 
this annual report, the Board consists of one female and seven male Directors. The Board is 
of the view that the gender diversity in respect of the Board is satisfactory based on the board 
diversity policy.

The Company is committed to provide equal employment and promotion opportunities for all 
employees without regard to their genders, ages, religions and place of ancestry. In particular, 
the male to female ratio in the workforce level (including senior management) is approximately 
1:0.9 as at the date of this annual report. The Board considers that the gender ratio is in line 
with the industry and the Company has achieved gender diversity in the workforce level. For 
further details in relation to the Company’s employees, please refer to the Environmental, Social 
and Governance Report of the Company.
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A.5. Appointments, Re-election and Removal of Directors — Nomination Committee

There should be a formal, considered and transparent procedure for the appointment of new 
directors to the board. There should be plans in place for orderly succession for appointments 
to the board. All directors should be subject to re-election at regular intervals. An issuer must 
explain the reasons for the resignation or removal of any director.

Code Provision B.2.2 stipulates that all directors should be subject to retirement by rotation at 
least once every three years.

According to the Company’s bye-law No. 84, at each annual general meeting, one-third of 
the Directors for the time being (or, if the member is not three or a multiple of three, then the 
number nearest to but not greater than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided 
that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term, the Chairman of the Board 
and Managing Director of the Company) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once 
every three years.

All Directors of the Company have a specific term of appointment and all the Independent Non-
executive Directors of the Company are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in 
accordance with the Company’s bye-law No. 84.

All Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition are subject to election by 
shareholders at the first general meeting after their appointment.

The nomination committee was formed with specific written terms of reference in compliance 
with the Listing Rules as revised from time to time including the requirements as set out in 
Code Provisions B.3.1 (a) to (d). Other responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include 
reviewing the board diversity policy and the relevant objectives, reviewing the performance of 
the Directors in carrying out their responsibilities, and formulating, reviewing and implementing 
the nomination procedures of the Directors.

As at the date of this annual report, this Committee is chaired by Mr. Li Yinquan. The other 
members are Mr. Gordon Ng, Mr. Cheung Tei Sing, Jamie, Mr. Ngan Hei Keung and Mr. 
Andrew Ngan.

Nomination Committee has considered measurable objectives based on their professional 
experience and ethnicity to implement the board diversity policy. Such objectives will be 
reviewed from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and the progress made towards 
achieving those objectives will be ascertained. Nomination Committee will review the board 
diversity policy, as appropriate, to ensure its continued effectiveness from time to time.
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A proposal for the appointment of a new Director will be considered and reviewed by the 
Board. All candidates must be able to meet the standards as set forth in Rules 3.08 and 3.09 
of the Listing Rules. A candidate who is to be appointed as an independent non-executive 
Director should also meet the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. 
In selecting and recommending candidates for directorship, the Nomination Committee takes 
into account a wide variety of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and 
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge, length of service 
and any other factors that it may consider relevant and applicable from time to time.

A.6. Director Nomination Procedures

According to the Company’s bye-law No. 85, other than a Director retiring at the meeting, 
a person may be eligible for election as a Director at a general meeting if such person is 
recommended by the Directors for election or if a member of the Company (other than the 
person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting proposes such 
person for election by timely lodging a notice of his intention together with a notice of such 
person’s willingness to be elected at the head office or registration office of the Company. Two 
candidates were nominated for directorship in 2023.

A.7. Responsibilities of Directors

Every director is required to keep abreast of the responsibilities as a director of an issuer 
and of the conduct, business activities and development of that issuer. Given the essential 
unitary nature of the board, non-executive directors have the same duties of care and skill and 
fiduciary duties as executive directors.

Every newly appointed Director of the Company is ensured to have a proper understanding 
of the operations and business of the Group and that he is fully aware of his responsibilities 
under statue and common law, the Listing Rules, applicable legal and regulatory requirements 
and the business governance policies of the Group. The Directors are continually updated 
with legal and regulatory developments, business and strategic development of the Group for 
discharging their responsibilities.

All independent non-executive Directors take an active role in Board meetings to bring in 
independent judgement to bear on issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability, 
resources, key appointments and standards of conducts. They scrutinise the Company’s 
performance in achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives, and monitor the reporting of 
performance. They also take the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise and serve the 
Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees.

Every Director is aware that he/she should give sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the 
Company.
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The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed 
Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. All Directors have confirmed, following 
enquiry by the Company, that they have complied with the required standard set out in the 
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2023. Other employees of the Group who 
are likely to be in possession of inside information of the Company are also subject to the same 
dealing restrictions.

The Board also takes up the corporate governance function pursuant to the CG Code. During 
2023, the Board has performed the following work in relation to corporate governance:

1. developed and reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;

2. reviewed and monitored the training and continuous professional development of the 
Directors and senior management;

3. reviewed and monitored the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal 
and regulatory requirements;

4. developed, reviewed and monitored the code of conduct and compliance manual 
applicable to employees and the Directors; and

5. reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate 
Governance Report.

A.8. Board independence

The Company is of the view that board independence is important in good corporate 
governance and to ensure an effective operation of the Board. The Board has established 
mechanisms to ensure independent views and input from individual Director are conveyed to 
the Board to promote the objectiveness in decision making. In particular, the Company has 
adopted the following mechanisms:

1. as at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of nine Directors and three of them 
are independent non-executive Directors, which complies with the requirements of the 
Listing Rules that the Board must have at least three independent non-executive Directors 
representing at least one-third of the Board;

2. on an annual basis, all independent non-executive Directors are required to confirm 
in writing their compliance of independence requirements pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the 
Listing Rules, and to disclose the number and nature of offices held by them in public 
companies or organisations and other significant commitments;

3. the Nomination Committee assesses the independence of the independent non-executive 
Directors and review their annual confirmations on independence;
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4. external independent professional advice is available as and when required by individual 
Directors at the Company’s expense; and

5. all Directors are encouraged to speak freely and express their views without influence 
from other Directors during the Board meetings and/or Board committee meetings.

A.9. Supply of and Access to Information

Directors should be provided in a timely manner with appropriate information in such form and 
of such quality as will enable them to make an informed decision and to discharge their duties 
and responsibilities as directors of an issuer.

In respect of regular Board meetings, and so far as practicable in all other cases, an agenda 
and accompanying Board papers are sent in full to all Directors in a timely manner and at least 
3 days before the intended date of a Board or Board Committee meeting.

Management are regularly reminded by the Company Secretary that they have an obligation to 
supply the Board and its Committees with adequate information in a timely manner to enable 
it to make informed decisions. The information supplied must be complete and reliable. The 
Board and each Director shall have separate and independent access to the Company’s senior 
management.

All Directors are entitled to have access to Board papers, minutes and related materials. Where 
queries are raised by Directors, steps are taken to respond as promptly and fully as possible.

B. Remuneration of directors and senior management

B.1. The Level and Make-up of Remuneration and Disclosure

An issuer should disclose information relating to its directors’ remuneration policy and other 
remuneration related matters. There should be a formal and transparent procedure for setting 
policy on executive directors’ remuneration and for fixing the remuneration packages for all 
directors. Levels of remuneration should be sufficient to attract and retain the directors needed 
to run the company successfully, but companies should avoid paying more than necessary for 
this purpose. No director should be involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee with specific written terms of 
reference as set out in Code Provisions E.1.2 (a) to (i) of the CG Code. The Remuneration 
Committee is responsible for making recommendations to the Board regarding the Company’s 
remuneration policy, and for the formulation and review of the specific remuneration packages 
of all executive Directors and senior executives of the Group.

A majority of the members of the Remuneration Committee are independent non-executive 
Directors. This Committee is chaired by Mr. Gordon Ng. The other members are Mr. Cheung 
Tei Sing, Jamie, Mr. Li Yinquan, Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP and Mr. Ngan Siu Hon, 
Alexander.
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The Committee had considered the following proposals for the remuneration of Directors and 
senior management and made recommendation to the Board:

1. annual salary review policy;

2. offer of share options as part of the long term incentive schemes; and

3. performance related bonus.

The Group ensures that the pay levels of its employees, including Directors and senior 
management, are competitive and employees are remunerated based on their positions and 
performance. Key employees of the Group are also granted share options under the share 
option schemes operated by the Company.

Details of the amount of the Directors’ emoluments for 2023 are set out in note 39(a) to the 
financial statements. Details of the share option schemes of the Company are set out in the 
Report of the Directors and note 29 to the financial statements.

The remuneration of senior management whose names appear in the 2023 and 2022 
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” section are within the following 
bands:

2023 2022

HK$1 — HK$500,000 — —
HK$500,001 — HK$1,000,000 2 3
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 2 2
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1 3
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 1 —
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2 1
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 — —
HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000 — 1
HK$4,000,001 — HK$4,500,000 — —
HK$4,500,001 — HK$5,000,000 — 1

  

The Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient resources, including access to 
professional advice, to discharge its duties if considered necessary.

No material matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules were 
required to be reviewed or approved by the Remuneration Committee during the year ended 31 
December 2023.
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C. Accountability and audit

C.1. Financial Reporting

The board should present a balanced, clear and comprehensible assessment of the company’s 
performance, position and prospects.

Management has provided such explanation and information to the Board as would enable the 
Board to make an informed assessment of the financial and other information put before the 
Board for approval.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to keep proper accounting records and prepare 
financial statements of each financial period, which shall give a true and fair view of the state of 
affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flow for that period. In preparing the financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023, the Directors have made judgements and 
estimates that are prudent and reasonable and prepared the financial statements on a going 
concern basis. The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, are not aware of any material 
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern.

A statement by the auditor about his reporting responsibilities is included in the Independent 
Auditor’s Report on pages 65 to 70 of the annual report for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Board’s responsibility to present a balanced, clear and understandable assessment 
extends to annual and interim reports, other price-sensitive announcements and other financial 
disclosures required under the Listing Rules, and reports to regulators as well as information 
required to be disclosed pursuant to statutory requirements.

C.2. Internal Controls

The board should ensure that the issuer maintains sound and effective internal controls to 
safeguard the shareholders’ investment and the issuer’s assets. 

The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of internal controls and for reviewing its 
effectiveness through the Audit Committee. The Board requires management to establish 
and maintain sound and effective internal controls. Review of the Group’s internal controls 
covering financial, operational and compliance controls, and risk management functions on 
different systems is done on a systematic rotational basis based on the risk assessments of the 
operations and controls.



Annual Report 2023 23

Corporate Governance Report

C.3. Audit Committee

The board should establish formal and transparent arrangements for considering how it will 
apply the financial reporting and internal control principles and for maintaining an appropriate 
relationship with the company’s auditor. The audit committee established by an issuer pursuant 
to the Listing Rules should have clear terms of reference.

The Company has established the Audit Committee with specific written terms of reference 
which deal clearly with its authority and duties. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee 
have included the duties set out in Code Provisions D.3.3 (a) to (n) of the CG Code, with 
appropriate modifications where necessary. The Audit Committee has made available its terms 
of reference, on the website of the Company, explaining its role and the authority delegated to 
it by the Board.

As set out in the terms of reference, the Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the 
financial reporting system and internal control procedures, annual report and financial 
statements and interim report.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors of the Company 
and is chaired by Mr. Cheung Tei Sing, Jamie. External auditor attended one meeting in 2023.

The following is a summary of the work performed by the Audit Committee during the year:

1. reviewed external auditor audit committee report and management’s response;

2. reviewed and recommended to the Board for approval of the audit fee proposal for 2022;

3. considered and recommended to the Board that the shareholders be asked to re-appoint 
the existing auditor as the Company’s external auditor for 2023;

4. reviewed and approved the Group’s internal audit plan for 2024;

5. reviewed internal audit reports, and risk management and internal control report and 
brought to the attention of Management on internal control issues and high risk areas;

6. reviewed the audited financial statements and final results announcement for the year 
2022;

7. reviewed the interim report and the interim results announcement for the six months ended 
30 June 2023;

8. reviewed the determination and reporting of key audit matters;

9. supported the Board in monitoring the performance of corporate governance, financial 
reporting, risk management and internal control systems; and

10. reviewed the risks raised during annual risk register execution and approved risk 
tolerance.
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All issues raised by the Committee have been addressed by Management. The work and 
findings of the Committee have been reported to the Board. During the year, no issues 
brought to the attention of Management and the Board were of sufficient importance to require 
disclosure in the Annual Report.

The Board agrees with the Audit Committee’s proposal for the re-appointment of existing 
auditor as the Company’s external auditor for 2024.

The remuneration of the Group’s external auditor is HK$3,033,000 for audit fees and 
HK$156,000 for other non-assurance services.

Full minutes of Audit Committee meetings are kept by the Company Secretary. Draft and final 
versions of minutes of the Audit Committee meetings are sent to all members of the Committee 
for their comments and records respectively, in both cases within a reasonable time after the 
meeting.

The Audit Committee does not have a former partner of the Company’s existing audit firm. The 
Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to perform its duties.

D. Dividend Policy

Policy on Payment of Dividend of the Company is in place setting out the factors in 
determination of dividend payment of the Company, the Company’s long-term earning capacity 
and expected cash inflow and outflow, the frequency and form of dividend payments. The 
policy shall be reviewed periodically and submitted to the Board for approval if amendments 
are required.
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E. Risk Management and Internal Control Report

E.1. Risk Management and Internal Control System

During the year, the Group has complied with the Code Provision D.2 of the CG Code by 
establishing appropriate and effective risk management and internal control system. The 
Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control systems of the Group and is 
responsible for reviewing their effectiveness on a regular basis. Such systems are designed to 
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only 
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

(i) Control Environment

The Group operates within an established control environment and it comprises four layers 
of roles and responsibilities to manage risk and internal control:

Role Accountability Responsibilities

High level review Board Overall responsibility for the Group’s risk 
management and internal control systems; 
oversees the controls for strategic and 
operational risks and monitors the effectiveness 
of the existing control systems through Audit 
Committee.

Supervision Audit Committee Supporting the Board in monitoring the 
performance of corporate governance, financial 
reporting, risk management and internal control 
systems; reviews risks raised during annual risk 
register execute; approves risk tolerance.

Risk and control 
owner

Managers of 
headquarters and 
business units

Day to day execution and monitoring of internal 
control; strategic policies and operating 
guidelines formulation and execution.

Risk monitoring and 
communication

CFO, company 
secretary and 
internal audit team

Evaluation of risk management and internal 
controls to identify areas for improvement; 
monitoring of corporate governance disclosure, 
statutory and l ist ing rules compliance; 
undertaking of investigations.
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(ii) Risk Assessment

The Group’s risk management process is embedded into our strategy formulation, 
business planning, capital allocation, investment decisions, internal controls and day-to-
day operations. Management is responsible for performing risk assessments and owning 
the design, implementation and maintenance of controls. Finance Department, Human 
Resources Department, Compliance Department and external professionals provide 
assistance and expertise management to help it in undertaking its responsibilities. Major 
identified risks are recorded in the risk register which has been monitored and updated 
regularly to reflect the latest development of situations.

Executive Directors communicate regularly with each individual business unit/department 
heads to identify day-to-day operational risks and find ways to mitigate them if any.

Regarding financial risks, the Board approves Company’s yearly financial budgets and 
reviews its operating and financial performance and key performance indicators against 
the budget on a semiannual basis. Management closely monitors the financial reports 
of each business unit on a monthly basis against budget to detect material deviation at 
business unit level. Board approval is required for all significant capital investment or 
acquisition decisions.

Chief Financial Officer, Company Secretary and Senior Human Resources and 
Administrative Manager work with external legal and financial advisors to review 
adherence to relevant laws and regulations, Listing Rules compliance, public disclosure 
requirements and our standards of compliance practices.
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(iii) Control Activities

Among others, control activities include approvals and verifications, reviews, safeguarding 
of assets and segregation of duties. They are performed by personnel at different levels 
within the Group with the support of well-defined policies and procedures:

Top-level reviews: Conducting review of performance versus budget. For all 
two business sectors (manufacturing and trading), monthly 
operation update and financial reports are discussed 
between business unit heads and Headquarters management 
to manage operational and financial risks. Besides, for 
manufacturing business units, monthly production quantity 
target and defect rate target are set to the factories. Biweekly 
KPI meetings and weekly production meetings are held to 
monitor the actual performance.

Information processing: There are several built-in control functions on accuracy, 
completeness and authorization of transactions in the 
Company’s ERP system and exception report can be 
generated for follow-up actions if required.

Physical controls: Inventory and major f ixed assets are safeguarded by 
designated personnel in specific locations and are subject to 
periodic checks.

Segregation of duties: If situation allows, the Group divides and segregates duties 
amongst different people, to strengthen checks and minimize 
the risks of errors or abuses.

Dissemination of inside 
information:

In compliance with the Securities and Futures Ordinance 
(the “SFO”) and the Listing Rules, the Group has established 
procedures for the handling and dissemination of inside 
information in an appropriate and timely manner, such as 
taking steps to ascertain sufficient details, conducting internal 
assessment of the matter and its likely impact on the Group, 
seeking professional advice when necessary and verifying 
the information. Unless it falls under any of the safe harbours 
provided in the SFO, the Company will disclose any inside 
information to the public as soon as reasonably practicable. 
Before the information is fully disclosed to the public, any 
persons who possess the knowledge of such information must 
ensure strict confidentiality and must not deal in any of the 
Company’s securities.
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(iv) Information and Communication

Information that gathered by business units from customers, suppliers, employees and 
relevant trade organizations and authorities are discussed internally and are shared 
with Hong Kong headquarters management formally or informally to facilitate decision 
making process. Management report to the Board the latest date status on performance, 
developments, significant risks and major initiatives and other relevant issues, and the 
Board, in turn, communicate to management what information it needs and provide 
directions and feedbacks. There are at least four Board meetings every year.

(v) Monitoring

Monitoring ensures that internal control continues to operate effectively. It involves 
assessment by appropriate personnel of the design and operation of controls and taking 
of suitable follow-up actions.

The Board and Audit Committee oversee the process, assisted by internal audit team. 
There are two audit committee meetings annually. Audit plan and internal audit report 
were reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee. No significant internal control 
weaknesses in 2023 is noted.

Our external auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, performs independent statutory audits 
of the Group’s financial statements and reports to the Audit Committee any significant 
weaknesses in our internal control procedures which come to its notice during the course 
of the audit.

Overall Assessment for the Financial Year

1. The risk management and internal controls and accounting systems of the Group were 
in place and functioning effectively, and were designed to provide reasonable but not 
absolute assurance that material assets were protected, business risks attributable to the 
Group were identified and monitored, material transactions were executed in accordance 
with management’s authorization and the financial statements were reliable to produce.

2. There was an ongoing process in place for identifying, evaluating and managing the 
significant risks faced by the Group.

3. The resources, qualifications, experience, training programs and budget of the employees 
of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting teams were adequate.

4. The Board conducted a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management 
and internal control systems, which cover all material control systems, policies and 
procedures. In particular, the Board evaluated the (i) four-layer control environment 
established by the Group; (ii) risk assessment and management process; (iii) various 
control activities by personnel at different levels within the Group; (iv) information reporting 
and analysis system; and (v) monitoring processes by the external auditor, the Audit 
Committee and the Board. No material internal control defect was noted in the review.
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E.2. Anti-corruption Policy

The Company adopts a zero-tolerance policy towards all kinds of corruption and bribery in 
all business dealings of the Group. It is fully committed to conducting business with integrity 
and in compliance with all applicable laws and regulatory requirements for the prevention of 
corruption and bribery. Corrupt practices may subject the Group and individual employees 
to potential criminal and civil liabilities, which may in turn cause substantial impact on the 
reputation and operation of the Group.

In order to promote the awareness of anti-corruption and enhance the integrity standard among 
the Group’s employees, the Company has adopted an anti-corruption policy. All employees 
of the Group are required to observe the requirements stated in the policy and comply with 
the relevant code of conduct. During the year ended 31 December 2023, no material non-
compliance with any laws and regulations in relation to the corruption, bribery and fraud 
concerning the Group and its employees had been identified. 

E.3. Whistleblowing Policy

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining the highest standards of openness, 
integrity and accountability. In order to enhance the efficiency in detecting and inhibiting 
any suspected misconduct, malpractice or irregularity, the Company has adopted the 
whistleblowing policy, which forms an essential part of the Company’s risk management and 
internal control system. Pursuant to the policy, employees of the Group and any third parties 
(including customers and suppliers) are encouraged to make a good faith report of any actual 
or suspected misconduct, malpractice or irregularity concerning the Group in a confidential 
manner. The policy provides certain reporting channels to the employees and third parties and 
set out clear guidelines for the investigation processes and notification of results.

F. Delegation by the Board

F.1. Management Functions

An issuer should have a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to the board for its 
decision. The board should give clear directions to management as to the matters that must be 
approved by the board before decisions are made on behalf of the issuer.

The Board is responsible for formulating overall strategy, monitoring and controlling the 
performance of the Group whilst managing the Group’s business is the responsibility of 
Management.

When the Board delegates aspects of its management and administration functions to 
Management, it has given clear directions as to the powers of Management, in particular, with 
respect to the circumstances where Management shall report back and obtain prior approval 
from the Board before making decisions or entering into any commitments on behalf of the 
Company.
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The Company has established schedules of Matters Reserved to the Board for Decision and 
Matters Delegated to Management. The Board shall review those arrangements on a periodic 
basis to ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs of the Group.

Matters Reserved to the Board for Decision include:

1. business plan;

2. financial statements and budget;

3. mergers and acquisitions and other substantial investments;

4. formation of board committees;

5. appointment and resignation of Directors; and

6. appointment and removal of auditors.

F.2. Board Committees

Board committees should be formed with specific written terms of reference which clearly set 
out the committees’ authorities and duties.

Apart from the Audit Committee (particulars are disclosed under C.3), Remuneration Committee 
(particulars are disclosed under B.1) and Nomination Committee (particulars are disclosed 
under A.5), there are no other board committees established by the Board. Where board 
committees are established to deal with certain matters, the Board shall prescribe sufficiently 
clear terms of reference to enable such committees to discharge their functions properly. The 
terms of reference of board committees shall require such committees to report to the Board 
on their decisions or recommendations, unless there are legal or regulatory restrictions on their 
ability to do so.

G. Company Secretary

Ms. Chan Hoi Ying, the Company Secretary and an employee of the Company, confirmed that 
she has taken no less than 15 hours relevant professional training during the financial year. 
Ms. Chan reported to the chairman of the Board and is responsible for ensuring that the Board 
procedures, and all applicable laws, rules and regulations, are followed by the Directors.
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H. Communication with shareholders

H.1. Effective Communication

The Board believes that effective and proper communications with shareholders play an 
important role in creating shareholders’ value, enhancing the corporate transparency 
and establishing market confidence. It endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with 
shareholders. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has established the 
following communication channels:

1. updating the latest news and development of the Company in the “investor relations” 
section of the Company’s website;

2. publishing the corporate communications such as annual reports, interim reports and 
circulars in printed form and on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company at 
www.hkexnews.hk and www.mainland.com.hk, respectively; 

3. holding annual and special general meetings, which acted as forums for the 
shareholders to make comments and exchange views with the Directors and the senior 
management of the Company. The chairman of the Board and the chairmen of the Audit, 
Remuneration and Nomination Committees attended the 2023 Annual General Meeting 
and were available to answer questions from shareholders; and

4. receiving enquiries from the shareholders, media and potential investors to the Company 
via the website of the Company at www.mainland.com.hk or directed to the Company’s 
head office and principal place of business in Hong Kong at Rooms 2301 – 2305, 23rd 
Floor, FTLife Tower, 18 Sheung Yuet Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

At the 2023 Annual General Meeting, a separate resolution was proposed by the Chairman in 
respect of each separate issue, including the re-election of Directors.

In compliance with Code Provision F.2.2, the chairman of the Board shall attend and invite the 
chairmen of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees to attend the 2024 Annual 
General Meeting. The external auditor of the Company shall also attend the 2024 Annual 
General Meeting to answer questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and 
content of the auditors’ report, the accounting policies and auditor independence. 

The Company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’ 
communication policy during the year and considered it to be effective.
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H.2. Procedures for putting forward proposals at general meetings

Any shareholder who wish to put forward proposals at general meetings of the Company shall 
submit such proposals to the Board in writing for its consideration not less than seven days 
prior to the date of a general meeting through the Company Secretary.

The Company also published all corporate correspondence on the Company’s website, 
www.mainland.com.hk.

H.3. Voting by Poll

The right to demand a poll was set out in the circular to shareholders of the Company 
dispatched together with the Annual Report. The results of the voting by poll would be 
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.

H.4. Convening of special general meetings on requisition by Shareholders

Shareholders shall have the right to request the Board to convene a special general meeting 
of the Company (“SGM”). In accordance with the Company’s bye-law No. 58, members holding 
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting 
at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition 
to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require a SGM to be called by the Board for the 
transaction of any business or resolution specified in such requisition. The SGM shall be held in 
the form of a physical meeting only and within two months after the deposit of such requisition. 
If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene the meeting, 
the requisitionists themselves may convene such physical meeting in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 74(3) of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

I. Constitutional Documents

The latest bye-laws of the Company is available on both the websites of the Company and the 
Stock Exchange.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have pleasure in submitting their annual report 
together with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities and other 
particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 17 to the financial statements.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

Details of segmental information are set out in note 5 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

An interim dividend of 3 HK cents (2022: 3 HK cent) per share, totaling HK$12,874,000 was paid 
on 10 October 2023. The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of 6 HK cents per 
share (2022: 6 HK cents per share) in respect of the year ended 31 December 2023. Subject to the 
approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting, the final dividend will be payable on or after 
21 June 2024 to the shareholders whose names appear on the register of members at the close of 
the business on 5 June 2024, being the record date for determination of entitlements to the final 
dividend.

To determine the identity of members who are entitled to attend and vote at the forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting which will be held on 24 May 2024, the register of members of the Company will 
be closed from 21 May 2024 to 24 May 2024 (both dates inclusive). In order to qualify to attend 
the Annual General Meeting, all transfers, accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be 
lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar, Tricor Tengis Limited, at 17/F, Far 
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 20 
May 2024.

To determine the identity of members who are entitled to the final dividend of the Company for the 
year ended 31 December 2023, the register of members of the Company will be closed from 31 May 
2024 to 5 June 2024 (both dates inclusive). In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all 
transfers, accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be lodged with the Company’s Hong 
Kong Branch Share Registrar, Tricor Tengis Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt 
Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 30 May 2024.

No arrangement has been made under which a shareholder has waived or agreed to waive any 
dividends.
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years 
is set out on page 160.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases attributable to the major customers 
and suppliers respectively during the financial year is as follows:

Percentage of
the Group’s total

Purchases Sales
   

The largest customer — 42.2%
Five largest customers in aggregate — 63.3%
The largest supplier 15.3% —
Five largest suppliers in aggregate 39.9% —

As at 31 December 2023, New Era Cap, LLC and, New Era Cap Company Ltd and affiliated 
companies, major customers of the Group, were affiliated companies of New Era Cap Hong Kong 
LLC (“NEHK”). NEHK holds 19.48% equity interest in the Company. Mr. Christopher Koch owns 75% 
of the issued share capital of NEHK.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the Company 
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an 
interest in these major customers or suppliers.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment are set out in note 15 to the financial 
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL ISSUED IN THE YEAR

Details of the shares issued in the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 27 to the 
financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during the year are set out in note 38(a) to the 
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for cash distribution amounted to 
HK$776,593,000 (2022: HK$722,652,000) as computed in accordance with the Companies Act 
1981 of Bermuda. In addition, the Company’s share premium account of HK$169,606,000 (2022: 
HK$166,117,000) as at 31 December 2023 may be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.
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EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

Share options granted to directors and selected employee

Details of the share options granted in prior years is set out in note 29 of the financial statements 
and “Share Options” section in this Report of the Directors. No share was issued during the year.

DONATIONS

The Group made HK$3,754,000 charitable and other donations during the year (2022: 
HK$1,000,000).

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive directors

Mr. Ngan Hei Keung (Chairman)
Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP (Deputy Chairman and Managing Director)
Mr. James S. Patterson
Mr. Ngan Siu Hon, Alexander (Chief Strategic Officer)
Mr. Lai Man Sing (Chief Financial Officer)
Mr. Andrew Ngan (appointed on 4 January 2024)

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Gordon Ng
Mr. Cheung Tei Sing, Jamie (appointed on 1 September 2023)
Mr. Li Yinquan (appointed on 1 September 2023)
Mr. Leung Shu Yin, William (resigned on 1 September 2023)
Mr. Liu Tieh Ching, Brandon, JP (resigned on 1 September 2023)

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-executive Directors an annual 
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the 
independent non-executive directors to be independent.

All the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting 
in accordance with the Bye-Laws No. 84 of the Company.

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-Law No. 84, Mr. Ngan Hei Keung, and Mr. James S. 
Patterson shall retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting. In addition, Mr. Andrew 
Ngan, Mr. Cheung Tei Sing, Jamie, Mr. Li Yinquan, being Directors appointed by the Board after the 
Company’s annual general meeting held on 25 May 2023, will hold office until the AGM pursuant to 
Bye Law No. 83(2). All of the retiring Directors, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. Ngan Hei Keung, Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP, Mr. Ngan Siu Hon, Alexander, 
Mr. Lai Man Sing and Mr. Andrew Ngan has entered into a service contract with the Company which 
may be terminated by not less than six months’ notice in writing served by either party.

Each of Mr. James S. Patterson, Mr. Gordon Ng, Mr. Cheung Tei Sing, Jamie and Mr. Li Yinquan has 
entered into a service contract with the Company, which may be terminated by not less than three 
months’ notice in writing served by either party.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has an unexpired service contract with the Company 
or any of its subsidiaries, which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of 
compensation, other than normal statutory obligations.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS 
AND CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S 
BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in note 36 to the financial statements and in the section “Connected Transaction” 
below, no other transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance to which the Company’s 
subsidiaries or its parent company was a party and in which a Director of the Company and the 
Director’s connected party had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the 
end of the year or at any time during the year. The Company has complied with the disclosure 
requirements set out in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rule.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(i) Rent paid in respect of an office premise to directors were charged at a fixed monthly fee 
mutually agreed between the two parties as set out in the tenancy agreements entered into by 
the Company and the directors on 1 April 2022. This transaction is connected transactions as 
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the adoption of HKFRS 16, this transaction is one-off connected transaction as 
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Group recognised right-of-use assets and 
lease liabilities of HK$582,000 in relation to the leased office premise. The carrying amount 
of the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities as at 31 December 2023 are HK$243,000 and 
HK$248,000, respectively. The Company has complied with the applicable requirements 
in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules as detailed in the section headed 
“Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions” in the Report of the 
Directors in respect of these transactions.

(ii) On 22 November 2019, the Company renewed a manufacturing agreement (the “Manufacturing 
Agreement”) with New Era Cap Hong Kong LLC (“NEHK”), pursuant to which NEHK agreed 
to purchase products from the Company with minimum purchase commitments for the five 
financial years ended 31 December 2024. Under the Contingent Purchase Deed, NEHK is 
entitled to require Mr. Ngan Hei Keung (“Mr. Ngan”) and Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, 
JP, (“Madam Ngan”) who are executive directors and controlling shareholders of the Company 
to purchase upto 39,800,000 shares (the number of shares has been adjusted to 41,790,000 
after adjustment for bonus shares issued in June 2022) of the Company from subscription and 
exercise of the option and owned by NEHK over a six months period after a notice is served by 
NEHK, if NEHK have agreed to give purchase commitment under the Manufacturing Agreement 
on the occurrence of several events.
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On 31 October 2022, independent shareholders of the Company approved the Manufacturing 
Agreement and the maximum aggregate annual value of supply transactions for the three years 
ending 31 December 2024 are HK$895,000,000, HK$1,239,000,000 and HK$1,278,000,000 
respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, affiliated companies of NE purchased goods 
totalling HK$598,728,000 from the Group.

Due to the interest in and benefits that Mr. Ngan and Madam Ngan (who are connected 
persons of the Company as they are Directors) can derive from Contingent Purchase Deed, the 
Manufacturing Agreement (including the supply transactions, subscription and grant of option) 
will constitute connected transaction and continuing connected transaction under the Listing 
Rules.

The aforesaid continuing connected transactions have been reviewed by independent non-executive 
directors of the Company. The independent non-executive directors confirmed that the aforesaid 
connection transactions were entered into (a) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the 
Group; (b) either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable to the Group than 
terms available to or from independent third parties; (c) in accordance with the relevant agreements 
governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the 
Company as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in 
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements 
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice 
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing 
Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued 
an unqualified letter containing his findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected 
transactions disclosed by the Group as above in accordance with paragraph 14A.56 of the Rules 
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

At no time during the financial year and up to the date of this Report of the Directors, there was 
or is, any permitted indemnity provision being in force for the benefit of any of the directors of the 
Company (whether made by the Company or otherwise) or an associated company (if made by the 
Company).

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability insurance throughout the year, which 
provides appropriate cover for the Directors of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES INTERESTS IN SHARES AND 
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY 
SPECIFIED UNDERTAKING OF THE COMPANY OR ANY OTHER ASSOCIATED 
CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2023, the interests of the Directors in the shares and underlying shares of the 
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and 
Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)), which had been notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange 
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO 
(including interests which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or 
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the 
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code 
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies, were as follows:

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company

Number of shares
 

Personal
interest

Other direct 
interest

Underlying 
shares Total

Percentage
of interest

      

Mr. Ngan Hei Keung — 232,583,400 
(notes 1, 2)

47,040,000 
(notes 3, 4)

279,623,400 65.16%

Madam Ngan Po Ling, 
Pauline, BBS, JP

39,698,400
(note 2)

192,885,000 
(note 1)

47,040,000
(notes 3, 4)

279,623,400 65.16%

Mr. James S. Patterson — — 1,050,000 
(note 5)

1,050,000 0.25%

Mr. Ngan Siu Hon, 
Alexander

— — 2,100,000 
(note 6)

2,100,000 0.49%

Mr. Lai Man Sing — — 1,050,000 
(note 7)

1,050,000 0.25%

Notes:

(1) 192,885,000 shares are legally and beneficially owned by Successful Years International Co., Ltd., a company 
ultimately and beneficially owned by Mr. Ngan Hei Keung and Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP as to 40% 
and 60% respectively.

(2) The 39,698,400 shares are beneficially owned by Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP the spouse of Mr. Ngan 
Hei Keung.

(3) Pursuant to the contingent purchase deed renewed on 22 November 2019 between Mr. Ngan Hei Keung, 
Madam Ngan and NEHK, NEHK is entitled to require Mr. Ngan Hei Keung and Madam Ngan to purchase up to 
39,800,000 shares on the terms and conditions of the said deed. The number of underlying shares has been 
adjusted to 41,790,000 after adjustment for bonus shares issued in June 2022.

(4) Mr. Ngan Hei Keung and Madam Ngan are entitled to subscribe for 2,100,000 shares and 3,150,000 shares 
respectively pursuant to the outstanding options granted under the Company’s share options scheme.
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(5) Mr. James S. Patterson is entitled to subscribe for 1,050,000 shares pursuant to the outstanding options granted 
under the Company’s share options scheme.

(6) Mr. Ngan Siu Hon, Alexander is entitled to subscribe for 2,100,000 shares pursuant to the outstanding options 
granted under the Company’s share options scheme.

(7) Mr. Lai Man Sing is entitled to subscribe for 1,050,000 shares pursuant to the outstanding options granted under 
the Company’s share options scheme.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executives of the Company (including their 
spouse and children under 18 years of age) had any interests in the shares or short positions in the 
shares or underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company or its specified undertaking or any of 
its associated corporations as defined in the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company adopted the former share option scheme (“Former Share Option Scheme”) on 29 
December 2011 and the Former Share Option Scheme expired on 28 December 2021. At 31 
December 2023, there were 28,345,000 outstanding Options with 28,345,000 underlying Shares, 
which will remain valid and exercisable with their respective terms of issue.

On 26 May 2022, a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was adopted, whereby 
the Board of Directors, may, at their absolute discretion, grant options to any eligible employees, 
including directors of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any invested entity, any suppliers of 
goods or services to any member of the Group or any interested entity, and any customers of the 
Group or any invested entity to subscribe for shares in the Company.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under 
the Share Option Scheme may not in aggregate exceed 40,535,328, being 10% of the shares in 
issue of the Company as at 26 May 2022, the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme.

The exercise price of the options is the highest of the nominal value of the shares, the closing price 
of the shares on the Stock Exchange on the date of offer of the options and the average closing 
price of the shares on the Stock Exchange for the five trading days immediately preceding the date 
of offer of the options.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years from the date of its adoption. 
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to grant options to selected 
participants as incentive or rewards for their contributions to the Group.

Unless approved by shareholders in general meeting, the total number of shares issued and which 
may fall to be issued upon exercise of the options of the Share Option Scheme and the options 
granted under any other schemes of the Group (including both exercised or outstanding options) 
to each grantee in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the 
Company at the relevant time.
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An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any 
time during the period (which may not expire later than 10 years from the date of offer of that 
option) to be determined and notified by the Directors to the grantee and in the absence of such 
determination, from the date of acceptance of the offer of such option to the earlier of the date on 
which such option lapses in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and 10 years 
from the date of offer of that option. A consideration of HK$1 will be payable upon acceptance of the 
offer.

At 31 December 2023, the total number of shares available for issue, save for those granted but yet 
to be exercised, under the Share Option Scheme was 40,532,328 shares, which represents 9.4% of 
the issued share capital of the Company.

At 31 December 2023, the Directors and employees of the Group had the following interests in 
options to subscribe for shares in the Company (market value per share is HK$1.88 at the balance 
sheet date) granted at nominal consideration under the share option schemes operated by the 
Company, each option gives the holder the right to subscribe for one share:

Number of shares

Date of grant
Period during which 
options exercisable

Exercise 
price

Outstanding
at 1.1.2023

Exercised
during 

the year
Outstanding 

at 31.12.2023

Market value 
per share at 

date of grant
HK$ HK$

        

Director 15.07.2015 15.07.2016–14.07.2025 1.066 1,050,000 — 1,050,000 1.066
13.04.2017 13.04.2018–12.04.2027 1.460 8,400,000 — 8,400,000 1.429

   

9,450,000 — 9,450,000
   

Employees 15.07.2015 15.07.2016–14.07.2025 1.066 9,555,500 (1,601,000) 7,954,500 1.066
13.04.2017 13.04.2018–12.04.2027 1.460 11,902,500 (962,000) 10,940,500 1.429

   

21,458,000 (2,563,000) 18,895,000
   

Total 30,908,000 (2,563,000) 28,345,000
 
 

 
  

Apart from the foregoing, at no time during the year was the Company, its subsidiaries, its parent 
company or its associated corporations a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors and chief 
executives of the Company (including their spouses or children under eighteen years of age) to hold 
any interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares in, or debentures, of the Company 
or its specified undertakings or other associated corporation.
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Substantial shareholders’ interests and/or short positions in the shares, underlying shares of 
the Company

So far as is known to the Directors or chief executives of the Company, as at 31 December 2023, 
shareholders (other than Directors or chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short 
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which were required to be disclosed to 
the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded 
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares:

Number of shares

Name Capacity
Personal 

interest
Other

interest
Underlying 

shares Total
Percentage
of interest

       

Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, 
BBS, JP

Beneficial owner 39,698,400 — — 39,698,400 9.25%

Interest of a controlled corporation 
(note 1)

— 192,885,000 — 192,885,000 44.94%

  

232,583,400 54.19%

Successful Years International 
Co., Ltd. (note 1)

Beneficial owner 192,885,000 — — 192,885,000 44.94%

Mr. Christopher Koch (note 2) Interest of a controlled corporation — 83,581,050 — 83,581,050 19.48%

NEHK (note 2) Interest of a controlled corporation 83,581,050 — — 83,581,050 19.48%

Notes:

1. Successful Years International Co., Ltd. is owned by Mr. Ngan Hei Keung and Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, 
BBS, JP as to 40% and 60% respectively. The interests of Mr. Ngan Hei Keung and Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, 
BBS, JP in Successful Years International Co., Ltd. are also disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and 
Chief Executives Interests in Shares and Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company or Any Specified 
Undertaking of the Company or Any other Associated Corporation” above.

2. Mr. Christopher Koch owns 75% of the issued share capital of NEHK. As such, Mr. Christopher Koch is deemed 
to be interested in the 83,581,050 shares.

Short positions in the underlying shares:

Name
Number of 

underlying shares
Percentage
of interest

   

Mr. Christopher Koch 41,790,000 (note) 9.74%
NEHK 41,790,000 (note) 9.74%

Note:

Pursuant to the contingent purchase deed renewed on 22 November 2019 between Mr. Ngan, Madam Ngan and 
NEHK, NEHK is entitled to sell up to 39,800,000 shares to Mr. Ngan and Madam Ngan on the terms and conditions 
of the said deed. In view of Mr. Koch’s 75% shareholding interest in NEHK, Mr. Koch is also taken to have interest in 
short position of 39,800,000 underlying shares. The number of underlying shares have been adjusted for bonus shares 
issued in June 2022.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Company had not been notified by any 
persons (other than Directors) who had interests in the shares and underlying shares of the 
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company 
under Section 336 of the SFO.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws and there was no 
restriction against such rights under the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer 
new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED 
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has not redeemed any of its shares. 
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the 
Company’s listed securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Directors confirm that, based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and 
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has sufficient public float of at least 25% of the 
Company’s issued shares as at 26 March 2024, being the date of this report.

AUDITORS

The financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being 
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board

Ngan Hei Keung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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ABOUT THE REPORT

Mainland Headwear Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) operate a 
diverse range of businesses in the USA, Europe, Bangladesh, Mexico, and the People’s Republic 
of China, including trading, e-commerce, licensing, and manufacturing of headwear and other 
products such as bags and fashion accessories. In 2023, the global economy was affected by 
geopolitical tensions. In the first half of 2023, there was an unsatisfactory inventory digestion and 
a slump in production and sales worldwide. However, the market showed signs of recovery in the 
fourth quarter of last year. The group established a new factory in Mexico to grasp opportunities to 
reduce tariffs and transportation costs, and shorten the delivery lead time.

Reporting Standards and principles

This Report is prepared in accordance with Appendix C2 to the Main Board Listing Rules – 
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” and has complied with “comply or 
explain” provision in the Listing Rules.

The Group has prepared this Report in accordance with the following reporting principles:

• Materiality: Important and relevant information to stakeholders on different ESG aspects 
is covered in the Report. A materiality assessment was conducted to 
determine material ESG issues with results approved by the Board.

• Quantitative: The relevant standards, methodologies and assumptions used to prepare the 
quantitative information is disclosed, as appropriate. Quantitative information 
is provided with narrative and comparative figures, where possible.

• Consistency: Consistent methodologies are used to prepare and present ESG data in the 
Report, unless otherwise specified, to allow for meaningful comparisons.

• Balance: The information is presented without the inappropriate use of selections, 
omissions or other forms of manipulation that would influence a decision or 
judgment by the reader.

The Board’s Responsibility and Governance Structure

The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) takes full responsibility for the sustainable 
development strategies, and reporting, evaluating and determining the risk of environmental, social 
and governance (“ESG”) matters of the Group, and also ensures that there is an appropriate and 
effective risk management and internal control system of ESG matters. The Group has set up an ESG 
Team (the “ESG Team”), which comprises directors, senior management and respective employees. 
The ESG Team is to assess, prioritize, provide suggestions on the effectiveness of the sustainable 
development strategies and policies of the Group, and to report to the Board regularly for reviewing 
on its operation and provide materials for information disclosure of ESG matters. The Board reviews 
the list of material ESG issues and will ensure that appropriate risk mitigation measures are in place 
during the year.
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Stakeholder Engagement and Materiality Assessment

The Group has set up a normalized stakeholder communication mechanism to ensure stakeholders 
are timely informed of the Group’s operation status. We actively listen and respond to stakeholders’ 
appeal and suggestions, to cement the relations of mutual help and trust with our stakeholders and 
jointly attain the vision of sustainable development. To determine the materiality of the selected ESG 
topics, the Group collected and analyzed the feedback of the stakeholder groups.

The topics of interest of the stakeholders and engagement channels are outlined below. After 
consulting the stakeholders and the discussions among senior management, the ESG aspects that 
are considered as most critical to our stakeholders are also included and will be addressed in 
further details in the rest of this report.

Key Stakeholders Topics of interest Engagement Channels Critical interest
    

Employees • Compensation and 
benefits

• Training and 
development

• Occupational health 
and safety

• Recruitment and 
promotion

• Working hours

• Performance 
management

• Training, seminars 
and briefing sessions

• Employee Assistance 
Program

• Staff communication
• Intranet

• Occupational health 
and safety

• Training and 
development

• Working hours

Customers • Products and service 
quality

• Products safety and 
stability

• Protection of privacy
• Environmental 

friendly products

• Meetings and 
communications

• Quality assurance 
process

• Site visits
• Email channel

• Products and service 
quality

• Products safety and 
stability

Shareholders • Business strategies 
and financial 
performance

• Corporate 
governance

• Business 
sustainability

• Annual General 
Meeting and other 
general meetings

• Investor and press 
conferences

• Corporate 
communications 
including 
announcements, 
circulars, interim and 
annual reports

• Business strategies 
and financial 
performance
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Key Stakeholders Topics of interest Engagement Channels Critical interest
    

Suppliers • Fair and open 
procurement

• Meetings and 
Communications

• Regular supplier 
reviews

• Fair and open 
procurement

• Win-Win cooperation

Regulators • Compliance with law 
and regulations

• Anti-corruption
• Environmental 

protection

• Regular meetings 
and communications

• On-site review
• Compliance reports
• Whistle-blowing 

procedures
• Waste & emission 

management

• Anti-corruption
• Environmental 

protection
• Labor standards, 

child and forced 
labor

Communities • Fair employment 
opportunities

• Community 
involvement

• Volunteer activities
• Sponsorship and 

donations
• Community outreach

• Anti-discrimination
• Equal opportunity, 

diversity
• Community 

involvement
    

We highly appreciate and welcome feedback from our stakeholders on this report so that we may 
meet their interests and expectations more accurately in our next report. For any questions or 
comments, please contact us at headoffice@mainland.com.hk
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COMPANY INTRODUCTION

Mainland Headwear Holdings Limited was founded in 1986 and listed on the Hong Kong Stock 
Exchange’s Main Board in 2000. It is currently the only publicly-listed headwear manufacturer in the 
world.

Graph 1: Vision, mission, core value

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
             

 

 

 

  

   

To be the world’s leader and premier provider in the headwear industry.

Vision

Mission

Customers come first

Values

To create value for customers, generate opportuni�es for employees and benefit the community 
by designing, manufacturing and promo�ng a wide variety of headwear products.

Core
Aggressive and 

innovative People-oriented Serving the 
community

The Group, which is headquartered in Hong Kong, has three manufacturing bases: one 
in Bangladesh, one in Mexico and the other in Shenzhen, China. The Group produces a 
comprehensive and exclusive range of licensed casual headwear goods, which are primarily 
distributed with the United States being the largest market, followed by Europe.

The Group operates Trading business in Europe and the US through four subsidiaries, namely Drew 
Pearson International (Europe) Ltd. (“DPI”), H3 Sportgear LLC (“H3 Sportgear”), San Diego Hat 
Company (“SDHC”) and Aquarius Limited (AQ).

Production site information

Manufacturing site area

Shenzhen Factory 80,000 sq.m

Bangladesh Factory 65,836 sq.m

Mexico Factory 16,723 sq.m

Production area

Shenzhen Factory 19,000 sq.m

Bangladesh Factory 38,849 sq.m

Mexico Factory 13,635 sq.m

Total production Capacity 7,000,000 pcs/month
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ENVIRONMENTAL

As a responsible headwear business participant, the Group strives to guarantee that our company 
activities are environmentally friendly, making every effort to minimize waste and emissions 
generated by daily operations and supporting services. We have set environmental protection 
standards for its production sites and a management system for independent factories.

During the reporting period, the Group has complied with all relevant laws and regulations that 
have a significant impact on the Group relating to environmental protection and emissions of gas, 
wastewater and solid waste.

Graph 2: The Group advocates an environmental-friendly practice in daily operation.
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In alignment with the Group commitment to protect the environment and control the proper usage of 
the natural resources, we implement environmentally sustainable management at all stages of the 
value chain and throughout the entire life cycles of our products by reducing harmful emissions and 
waste, prevent pollution and minimize consumption of resources.

Emission

The emission of the Group are air emissions, green house gas emissions, wastewater, solid wastes. 
In the year of 2023, the Group found no violations with laws and regulations relating to the emission.

Air Emissions

The Group’s air emission mainly comes from the use of vehicles. The air emissions generated 
from vehicles use of the Group are mainly sulphur oxides (“SOX”) and nitrogen oxides (“NOX”). For 
detailed data, please refer to Table 1.

Greenhouse gases

In 2023, the group’s total greenhouse gases emission is 7,402 tonnes CO2e. The dominant 
contributors are the indirect emissions that stemmed from the use of electricity and transportation 
(90%). The others (10%) are direct emissions from the use of fuels and refrigerants.

Carbon dioxide, methane, and nitrous oxide are the primary sources of greenhouse gas (GHG) 
emissions in our headwear manufacturing. They are generated by purchased power, supplemental 
electricity generators, motor vehicles, and septic tanks. All emissions were in accordance with 
applicable environmental laws, rules, and local regulations.
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The Greenhouse gases emission reduction strategies for our Bangladesh factory are shown below, 
aiming to reduce the energy usage and greenhouse gases emission progressively:

Greenhouse Gases Reduction Strategies

Objective Plan

GHG reduction by reducing Natural 
gas consumption in Boiler

1. Reuse condensate water at boiler feed tank
2. Descaling Boiler for better performance

GHG reduction by reducing Diesel 
consumption from Generator

1. Regular maintenance of all Generator
2. Air and fuel ratio to be maintained
3. Regular conversion chamber monitoring

Reduce SO2 emission from boiler 1. Run the boiler in low fuel by using natural gas
2. Improvement to be confirmed through emissions 

testing

The group is aiming to keep the GHG emission at a reasonable rate in the future. As we have set up 
a series of strategies to control our emission rate, we are optimistic that the GHG emission will not 
grow gradually in the next few years.

Wastewater

Owing to the nature of our business, our primary activities include cutting, embroidering, printing, 
flocking, ironing, and packaging, as well as delivering the final products. Factory wastes are 
classified as follows: domestic waste, general industrial waste, statutory hazardous waste, and 
recyclable waste. Wastewater produced in the offices mainly comes from the daily use from the 
staff and is discharged to municipal sewage treatment plant through drainage pipes. The amount 
of wastewater generated in 2023 is shown below. All factory waste emissions followed applicable 
environmental laws, rules, and local regulations. Environmental consequences are deemed 
insignificant.

Non-hazardous wastewater 161,711.58 m3
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Wastes

Our factories’ waste management plan is focused on proper waste removal, disposal, reduction, 
and recycling. All wastes shall be removed and disposed by a certified contractor recognized by 
the government in line with local regulations. The Group especially focuses on reducing the waste in 
the Bangladesh factory that the wastes amount was reduced by 19% in FY2023 in comparison with 
FY2022.

Waste Reduction Strategies

Objective Plan

Reduce Waste 1. Training program to increase awareness on waste, Reduce waste 
generation (non- hazardous garbage)

2. By reusing waste (Electrical waste, Mechanical waste & some other 
reusable waste)

Non-hazardous waste 438.14 tonnes (2022: 597.98 Tonnes)

Table 1 – The amounts of the different types of emissions emitted by major production 
facilities in FY2023

FY2023
Items Type of emissions Units Amount Intensity 

(Per employee)

Air emissions Sulphur oxide (SOX) g 258.42 0.03
Nitrogen oxide (NOX) g 618.78 0.08
PM g 108.22 0.01

GHG emissions Scope 1 Tonnes CO2e 757.58 0.1
Scope 2 Tonnes CO2e 6,644.87 0.84

Wastes Non-hazardous Wastewater m3 143,527.56 18.07
Non-hazardous waste Tonnes 438.14 0.06

The Group aims to reduce or maintain the current level of different type of emissions at the stable 
level in the next 3 years in the future compared to FY2023.
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1. Use of resources

As a responsible global citizen, we advocate for resource conservation. The Group’s energy 
and resource consumption are summarized in the following.

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Electricity
11,453,762 kWh

Water
193,057 m 3

Diesel
106,400 Litre

Packing Paper 
and plas�cs
99.59 tonnes

Natural Gas

382,172 m3

Gasoline

10,120.3 Litre

In 2023, the electricity consumption per product is 0.21 kWh (2022: 0.21 kWh) and the water 
consumption per product is 0.0035 m3 (2022: 0.003 m3).

• Energy

The Group used energy mostly for general lighting, electrical equipment, backup power 
generation, and motor vehicles. Meanwhile, steam is supplied to our factory by electric 
and natural gas boilers. We are committed to reducing our Group’s energy usage through 
energy-efficient activities. For instance, the Group intends to implement a comprehensive 
energy monitoring system to assist factories in identifying abnormal energy consumption 
and identifying opportunities for energy conservation.

The Hong Kong office has adopted more eco-friendly practices in 2023 to reduce the 
excessive use of energy. The office is equipped with LED lighting instead of incandescent/
CFL lighting that was used in the previous location, which reduce 50-75% of energy 
usage.

The group will keep on monitoring the use of energy and encourage the staff to follow  
eco-friendly practices in their working place. With regular educations on the staff, we 
believe that the energy usage can be reduced in the future.
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• Water

The majority of polluted water in the facilities comes from employees’ domestic water, 
industrial wastewater from washing and processing the soft and comfy headwear 
products, and preshrinking of cotton cloth. The Group employs rigorous water 
management practices with the goal of minimizing water use and increasing the usage of 
recycled water.

Our Shenzhen factory is equipped with specialized sewage treatment plants that handle 
industrial wastewater and residential water for future reuse depending on water quality 
and treatment requirements. The inspection institution designated by the local competent 
authority has been continued to conduct sampling and detection of discharged water 
in accordance with applicable laws, and wastewater is discharged in compliance with 
appropriate standards. In the year 2023, the proportion of recycled water used by 
Shenzhen factory was about 28%.

Ground Water Reduction Strategies

Objective Plan

Reduce use of ground 
water

1. Reduce Rinse
2. Remove all leakage & install new valve where needed
3. Training program to increase awareness of using water
4. By practicing good housekeeping
5. Using Trigger Nozzle on pipe head for cleaning
6. By installing low flow tap.

• Usage of raw materials and packing materials

The headwear industry’s raw materials are classified into two categories: headwear body 
materials and headwear brim materials. The factory maintains regular contact with brand 
customers and suppliers when it comes to raw material selection, ensuring that materials 
meet the quality standards specified by brand customers. Additionally, materials shall be 
inspected in accordance with the customer’s list of prohibited and restricted substances, 
as well as relevant requirements of the American Society for Testing and Materials 
and the countries to which customers belong, and jointly explores the application of 
environmentally friendly materials in headwear with the customer.

Our operations primarily utilize carton boxes, paper tags, and packing plastics. We 
continue to make efforts to keep our packaging materials to a minimum in order to 
minimize waste generation. Around 25.47 tonnes of packaging materials were used during 
the reporting period.
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2. Natural Resource

The Group’s main operations are devoid of soil contamination, water contamination, and 
forest destruction. We place a high value on environmental protection and natural resource 
management; we continue to strengthen environmental management while expanding our 
business; and we evaluate the environmental impact of our operations and choices. The Group 
is committed to raising environmental awareness through employee education and to take on a 
social responsibility for environmental conservation.

During the reporting period, the Group was unaware of any non-compliance with environmental 
laws and regulations that might have a serious impact on the Group.

3. Climate Change

Considering the growing urge for action on climate change issues that may affect 
our operations, the Group acknowledged our shared responsibility for minimizing the 
consequences of climate change and progress toward reducing our overall carbon footprint. 
Throughout the reporting period, none of our services or output were impacted by severe 
weather events such as typhoons, flooding, heat waves, or tsunami. Nonetheless, the group 
will continuously monitor potential threats to our business and improve our natural disaster risk 
management system.

SOCIAL

The Group pursues a strategy of sustainable development by providing a safe and healthy 
work environment, as well as talent development and training, as well as by promoting and 
executing supply chain management regulations. We also encourage community involvement and 
participation, with the goal of achieving sustainable development and operation.

1. Employment

As a global leader in headwear manufacturing, our business network covers Asia, Mexico, 
the United States, and Europe. As of 31 December 2023, we have a total of 8,249 full-time 
employees and 2 part-time employees.

Number of Employees
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Gender Distribution
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Age Group Distribution
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Turnover rate according to gender, age, and region

Region Gender
Under 30

Age
30-50 Above 50Male Female

      

Hong Kong 46.7% 24.6% 0% 35.8% 25%

Mainland China 8.6% 8.6% 50% 11.6% 10.2%

Bangladesh 3% 3.4% 3.6% 2.1% 5.4%

USA 41.8% 36.3% 56.7% 46.8% 40.6%

UK 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Mexico 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
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Employment Policy

The Group believes that its long-term success is dependent on the contributions of each 
employee. A series of policies, handbooks, and protocols have been implemented to assist in 
the development of an environment in which our employees are treated fairly and equally, with 
their rights and interests being respected. Throughout the reporting period, the Group was 
unaware of any non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations affecting employment, 
occupational health and safety, or labor standards.

• Equal opportunity

The Group acts as an equal opportunity employer, protecting employees’ rights to work. 
No member of staff would face discrimination in the workplace based on gender, race, 
religion, age, disability, sexual orientation, nationality, political views, social community or 
ethnic background. We make recruitment and promotion decisions based on aptitude and 
on the basis of performance.

• Labor standards

The Group is dedicated to acting fairly and promoting human rights policies that are 
consistent with relevant local regulations and the International Covenant on Human Rights. 
The Group adopts and executes recruitment norms and policies that respect workers’ 
rights and interests in the workplace.

• Child labour

The Group will not recruit child labor under the age specified by local regulations and will 
make every effort to avoid employing child labor during our course of business. Any child 
labor discovered on our facilities would be immediately returned to their hometown or 
native place, followed by our submission of relevant documentation to local authorities and 
discussion with the child’s custodian regarding the child’s return to school.

• No forced labor

In terms of working hours, the Group carefully complies to relevant national decrees 
or provisions of agreements with brand customers, respects the working hours of its 
employees, and provides leave to employees in compliance with the law. As operational 
need, the Group maintains a computer-based attendance system for human resource 
records to properly manage employees’ working hours and leave, as well as to ensure 
employees’ physical and emotional well-being. The Group arranges for employees to work 
overtime on their own initiative to avoid forced overtime, with extra labor and remuneration 
in accordance with domestic laws and regulations in each country. Our Group has 
adopted strictly on the precautions of any form of Forced Labour in our factories. We 
have written policy and procedures in place to ensure the effectiveness of its compliance. 
In case of the occurrence, we will take appropriate action to remediate the violation 
immediately and recognize the importance by providing training to all staffs at factory to 
ensure that this policy is understood and must be enforceable. In addition, there will be 
internal audits to trace the effectiveness of our Code of Conduct and social compliance 
system on regular basis.
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• Remuneration

The Group provides reasonable remuneration and benefits to its employees in accordance 
with relevant law. Salary is determined using an integrated working hour system, with the 
base salary not being less than the standard minimum wage in the place of our business 
operations to meet the staff’s basic necessities. Performance-based bonuses targeted to 
various staff levels to reward and retain a high-caliber leadership team.

• Employee-employer communication mechanism

The right of employees to form associations for collective negotiation. Staff members are 
free to join a trade union or other organization of staff representatives, exercise their rights 
under the Articles of Association, engage in sincere and constructive negotiations on a 
voluntary basis and in good faith, and attempt to reach collective bargaining contracts 
and agreements.

To improve communication between management and employees, various channels 
have been established, including a “Company Mailbox,” a “Trade Union Mailbox,” and a 
“Compliance Hotline,” with the goal of comprehending and resolving employee concerns, 
listening to their voices, adopting improvement suggestions, and ultimately achieving a 
harmonious relationship between employee and employer.

To address employee suggestions and complaints, the Group develops the following three 
channels of communication and reporting in accordance with the “Working Principle”:

Direct supervisor
of the employee

Complaint 
mailbox

Human
resources 

department

2. Health and safety

The Group believes that the safety of its customers and employees should always take 
precedence. Our factories in Shenzhen, Mexico and Bangladesh have taken every precaution 
to ensure the safety of our customers, employees, and corporate property. “Safety first and 
prevention utmost” is our guiding approach for safe manufacturing.

The factories in Shenzhen, Mexico and Bangladesh provide a comprehensive set of labor 
protection measures designed to foster a safe and healthy work environment favorable to 
employee health and performance. Additionally, the factories continue to promote safety, 
occupational health, fire and disaster prevention, and environmental responsibility. Our 
factories incorporate these concepts, as well as safety-related rules and regulations, into all 
aspects of their operations, including research and development (R&D), design, production, 
inspection, quality control, and service.

In Shenzhen factory, a series of stress relief workshops, including flower appreciate, coffee 
tasting, emotional management etc, is tailored to help the employees to relax and control their 
minds, and to learn how to relax and control their emotions.

The Group has not had a work-related fatality or day lost due to work-related problems in the 
last three years.
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3. Development and training

Through training, the Group consistently improves the level of knowledge, skill, and initiative of 
its employees, enabling them to accomplish their goals and self-success. Trainings include in-
house job training programs, workshops, frequent experience sharing meetings, online learning 
resources, external seminars, courses, and team building activities designed to supply the 
Group with qualified management employees, experienced technicians, and workers.

Total training hour of employees

11,776

Average training hours of Full-time employees

14

Average training hours of employees by gender

Male Female

13 11

Average training hours of employee by category

Senior Management Middle Management General Staffs

9 11 13

Percentage of employee trained by category

Senior management Middle management General Staffs

100% 100% 100%

4. Supply chain management

The Group addresses supply chain challenges through risk management, responsible sourcing, 
supplier engagement and oversight. The Group’s procurement activities are governed by a set 
of transparent and fair tendering procedures.

When it regards to supplier selection, the Group begins by screening prospective suppliers, 
followed by on-site audits by the internal auditor, competitive analysis by the purchasers, and 
lastly, committee vote. The rigorous screening process guarantees that shortlisted suppliers 
meet the Group’s performance requirements, establish long-term strategic partnerships, and 
assist the Group in developing a high-quality supply chain management system. Tenderers 
must disclose any potential conflicts of interest and take a strong stand against fraud and 
misconduct. If a violation is discovered, supplier ties will be suspended or terminated.
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In addition to requiring suppliers to adhere strictly to regulations and standards regarding 
labor safety and health, human rights, and environmental protection, the Group performs 
frequent evaluations of its suppliers, including a quarterly review of overall performance. 
Regular appraisals are based on five criteria: quality, pricing (cost), delivery, service, and 
environmental protection. Suppliers can use the appraisal results to continuously improve their 
operation performance.
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5. Product Liability

The Group places a high value on our customers’ interests and makes every effort to supply 
them with high-quality products and services. We believe that customer satisfaction is the 
largest single factor in driving our customer loyalty, market share and overall business success. 
As a market leader in headwear manufacturing, we offer consistent, new and better approaches 
based on customer needs. We use internal operational metrics, external benchmarking and 
customer feedback to measure our operational excellence. Throughout the year, the Group 
was unaware of any incidents of non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations having 
a significant impact on the Group’s product responsibility. There have been no product recalls 
due to product safety concerns. The number of product complaints is negligible in comparison 
to the volume of manufacturing.

• Product responsibility

The Group’s products shall pass the standard quality inspection required by customers 
and shall be packaged and labeled in a manner consistent with customer requirements 
and exporting countries’ laws and regulations. Before products are stored in the 
warehouse and available for production, they are inspected and tested according to 
standardized inspection processes. To ensure that we meet our clients’ needs, our overall 
manufacturing processes are monitored and audited by customers. When customers raise 
any concerns that require correction or improvement, immediate action is conducted and 
the results are reverted to the customers.

• Intellectual property rights

As a manufacturer of headwear, the Group respects the intellectual property rights of 
its brand customers and adheres scrupulously to their brand protection regulations. 
Intellectual property rights (for example, trademarks) are only applied to products within 
the scopes authorized by brand customers and are not used for any other unauthorized 
uses.

• Personal data protection

We are committed to protecting the privacy of individuals’ personal information. We 
ensure that our policies and practices regarding the collection, use, retention, transfer, 
and access to personal data adhere to the provisions of Hong Kong’s Personal Data 
(Privacy) Ordinance and in accordance with applicable local regulations. The purpose for 
collecting and retaining customer records is to provide customers with services, facilities, 
and commodities, to process payments and billings, to conduct product research and 
development, to conduct customer surveys and direct marketing, and for other operational 
purposes. Appropriate security measures are in place to prevent loss and unauthorized.
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6. Anti-corruption

The Group adheres completely to all relevant local laws and regulations. When conducting 
business with counterparties, all employees are prohibited from directly or indirectly offering, 
promising to offer, requesting or receiving any improper benefits, or trying to take any other 
actions without sincerity and integrity, in any illegal way, or in breach of fiduciary duty. The 
Group conducts anti-corruption training for all levels of staff and actively promotes a culture of 
business ethics and integrity. For instance, bring local law enforcement officers to our factories 
to explain the applicable rules and regulations and the consequences of violations.

The Group discloses its business integrity policies on its internal website to ensure that our 
employees, suppliers, customers, and staff of other companies with whom we do business 
understand our attitude and standards of business integrity. Employees of the Group are 
obligated to explain the Group’s rules and regulations on business integrity to business 
counterparties and to clearly reject any direct or indirect provisions in any manner or form.

 WHISTLE BLOWING CHANNEL

Anti-corruption
and anti-bribery 

hotline

Complaint
mailbox

Direct supervisor
of the 

employee

Human resources
department

Throughout the year, the Group was unaware of any violation of anticorruption laws or 
regulations that would have a significant impact on the Group.

7. Community investment

We believe that our Group’s greatest value is derived from the benefits we can create for the 
community. Apart from giving our best in the industry, we also volunteer our time, energy, and 
resources to support those in our community who are less fortunate. Our major focus areas 
are on elderly services, education, and public health. Our Company and top management, 
the Ngan’s family, made million dollars of charity donations. Po Leung Kuk, Heung Yee Kuk, 
the Community Chest, Overseas Chinese Association in China and Bangladesh are among the 
beneficiaries. Among them, Nanjing University received an initial donation of RMB1,000,000 
and Yongchun Charity Foundation received a donation of RMB500,000.
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EMPLOYEE CARE

1. The Company respects employees’ freedom and promotes their individual development, 
cultivating their interests and hobbies and focuses on employee mental health and welfare 
support. This creates a harmonious atmosphere for employees to work in, fosters teamwork 
and enhances the Company’s cohesion. In 2023, the Company organized a company trip as 
welfare.

2. The Company values and respects its employees, and provides them with more care and 
attention, as well as practical support. The Company sets up an extra retirement fund for 
employees who work for the Company over 10 years and continue to serve the Company 
till retirement. This plan is in addition to MPF and covers various benefits e.g. employee life 
insurance. When employees retire from the Company, they can receive an extra income to 
protect their post-retirement life.
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AWARDS AND RESPECT

The public recognizes the Group’s efforts in social and environmental areas. The Group won the 
following honors in 2023:
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORTING INDEX

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key 
Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section Pages

A. Environmental

A1: Emissions

General Disclosure “Emissions” 47
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective 

emissions data
“Emissions – Air Emissions” 47

KPI A1.2 Direct and energy indirect greenhouse 
gas emissions and, where appropriate, 
intensity

“Emissions – Greenhouse 
Gases”

47

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, 
where appropriate, intensity

Not applicable – The Group 
generates no hazardous waste

49

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced 
and, where appropriate, intensity

“Emissions – Wastewater” 
“Emissions – Solid Waste”

48

KPI A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set 
and steps taken to achieve them

“Emissions – Air Emission”
“Emissions – Greenhouse Gas”

48

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes are handled, and a 
description of reduction target(s) set 
and steps taken to achieve them

“Emissions – Solid Wastes”
“Emissions – Wastewater”

48-49

A2: Use of Resources

General Disclosure “Use of Resources” 50
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy 

consumption by type in total and 
intensity

“Use of Resources – Energy” 50

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and 
intensity

“Use of Resources – Water” 51

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency 
target(s) set and steps taken to 
achieve them

“Use of Resources – Energy” 50

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any 
issue in sourcing water that is fit for 
purpose, water efficiency target(s) set 
and steps taken to achieve them

“Use of Resources – Water” 
There is no issue in sourcing 
water fit for purpose

51

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for 
finished products and, if applicable, 
with reference to per unit produced

“Use of Resources – Paper” 51

A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

General Disclosure “The Environment and Natural 
Resources”

52

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts 
of activities on the environment and 
natural resources and the actions 
taken to manage them

“The Environment and Natural 
Resources”

52

A4: Climate Change

General Disclosure “Climate Change” 52
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-

related issues which have impacted, 
and those which may impact, the 
issuer, and the actions taken to 
manage them

No significant impact on climate 
change was noted

52
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key 
Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section Pages

B. Social

Employment and Labour Practices

B1: Employment

General Disclosure “Employment” 52
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, 

employment type, age group and 
geographical region

“Our Workforce” 52-54

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age 
group and geographical region

“Our Workforce” 54

B2: Health and safety

General Disclosure “Health and Safety” 56
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related 

fatalities occurred in each of the past 
three years including the reporting year

No work-related fatalities 
occurred

56

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury No lost days due to work injury 56
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and 

safety measures adopted, and how 
they are implemented and monitored

“Health and Safety” 56

B3: Development and Training

General Disclosure “Development and Training” 57
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained 

by gender and employee category
“Development and Training” 57

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed 
per employee by gender and employee 
category

“Development and Training” 57

B4: Labour Standards

General Disclosure “Labour Standards” 55
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review 

employment practices to avoid child 
and forced labour

“Labour Standards” 55

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate 
such practices when discovered

No such practice was 
discovered

55

Operating Practices

B5: Supply Chain Management

General Disclosure “Supply Chain Management” 57
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical 

region
“Supply Chain Management” 57

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating 
to engaging suppliers, number of 
suppliers where the practices are 
being implemented, how they are 
implemented and monitored

“Supply Chain Management” 57

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to 
identify environmental and social risks 
along the supply chain, and how they 
are implemented and monitored

“Supply Chain Management” 57
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key 
Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section Pages

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to 
promote environmentally preferable 
products and services when 
selecting suppliers, and how they are 
implemented and monitored

“Supply Chain Management” 57

B6: Product Responsibility

General Disclosure “Product Responsibility” 58
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or 

shipped subject to recalls for safety 
and health reasons

No product sold or shipped 
subject to recalls for safety and 
health reasons.

58

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service 
related complaints received and how 
they are dealt with

No product and service related 
complaints received.

58

KPI B6.3 Description and practices relating to 
observing and protecting intellectual 
property rights

“Product Responsibility” 58

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance 
process and recall procedures

No product recalled 58

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data 
protection and privacy policies, 
and how they are implemented and 
monitored

“Product Responsibility” 58

B7: Anti-corruption

General Disclosure “Anti-corruption” 59
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases 

regarding corrupt practices brought 
against the issuer or its employees 
during the reporting period and the 
outcomes of the case

No concluded legal case 
regarding corrupt practices was 
noted.

59

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures 
and whistle-blowing procedures, 
and how they are implemented and 
monitored

“Anti-corruption” 59

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training 
provided to directors and staff

“Anti-corruption” 59

Community

B8: Community Investment

General Disclosure “Community Investment” 59-60
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. 

education, environmental concerns, 
labour needs, health, culture, sport)

“Community Investment” 59-60

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or 
time) to the focus area

“Community Investment” 59-60
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Independent Auditor’s Report
 

To the Shareholders of
Mainland Headwear Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Mainland Headwear Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and 
its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on pages 71 to 159, comprise:

• the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2023;

• the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then ended;

• the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

• the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

• the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended; and

• the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising material accounting policy 
information and other explanatory information.

Our Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated 
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial 
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong 
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure 
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued 
by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance 
in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to provision for inventories.
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Provision for inventories

Refer to note 4 (critical accounting estimates 
and judgements) and note 21 (inventories) 
to the consolidated financial statements for 
the related disclosures. As disclosed in note 
21 to the consolidated financial statements, 
inventories are carried at the lower of cost and 
net realisable value (“NRV”).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group held 
inventories of HK$373.7 million, after provision 
for inventories of HK$36.8 million.

Management determines the lower of cost and 
NRV of inventories by considering the ageing 
profile, inventory obsolescence and estimated 
sell ing price less the estimated costs of 
sale of individual inventory items. Significant 
judgement is required in determining the 
estimated selling price less the estimated 
costs of sale of individual products including 
historical experience of selling products of 
similar nature and expectation of future sales 
based on current market conditions.

We focused on this area due to significant 
judgement involved in determining the provision 
for inventories.

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s 
assessment on NRV and obsolescence of 
inventories included:

—  Understood and evaluated management’s 
internal control and assessment process of 
estimating the NRV of the inventories and 
conducting periodic review on inventory 
obsolescence; and assessed the inherent 
risk of material misstatement by considering 
the degree o f  es t ima t ion uncer ta in ty 
and level of other inherent risk factors 
such as subjectivity and susceptibility to 
management bias or fraud;

—  Examined the basis with respect to inventory 
provisions and evaluated amongst others, 
the outcome of prior period assessment to 
assess the effectiveness of management’s 
estimation process; and the utilisation of 
inventories to identify the slow moving and 
obsolete inventories;

—  Observed client’s inventory counts to identify 
where there is any damaged or obsolete 
inventories;

—  Tested, on a sample basis, the accuracy 
of the ageing profile of individual inventory 
i tems by check ing to  the under l y ing 
procurement correspondence and invoices;

—  Tested, on a sample basis, the NRV of 
selected inventory items, by comparing 
the latest selling price against the carrying 
values of these individual inventory items; 
and



Mainland Headwear Holdings Limited68

Independent Auditor’s Report
 

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

—  Discussed with management in relation to 
specific provision on certain inventories 
which provision was made according to their 
view on current market conditions.

Based on the procedures described, we found 
the judgement made by management in relation to 
the provision for inventories was supportable by 
available evidence.

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises all of the information included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of Directors and Audit Committee for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the 
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as 
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to 
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, 
in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, and for no other purpose. 
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of 
this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
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• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related 
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities 
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and 
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of 
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Ng Hiu Tung.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 5 1,418,994 1,874,424

Cost of sales 8 (942,630) (1,237,128)
  

Gross profit 476,364 637,296

Other income 6 30,953 28,420

Other gains/(losses) — net 7 44,965 (678)

Selling and distribution costs 8 (159,972) (178,665)
Administration expenses 8 (198,356) (196,997)
Impairment of goodwill 18 — (22,511)
Net impairment losses on financial assets 22 (3,750) (2,806)

  

Profit from operations 190,204 264,059

Finance income 9 2,103 574
Finance costs 9 (15,280) (13,648)

  

Finance costs – net (13,177) (13,074)
  

Share of profit/(loss) from an investment accounted  
for using equity method 11 150 (124)

  

Profit before income tax 177,177 250,861

Income tax expense 12 (49,369) (37,554)
  

Profit for the year 127,808 213,307
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2023 2022
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit attributable to:
Owners of the Company 117,949 195,390
Non-controlling interests 9,859 17,917

  

127,808 213,307
  

Earnings per share for the profit attributable to  
owners of the Company 13
Basic (HK cents per share) 27.5473 45.8728
Diluted (HK cents per share) 26.9886 45.0421

  

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.
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2023 2022
Note  HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit for the year 127,808 213,307

Other comprehensive income, net of tax

Items that have been or may be subsequently 
reclassified to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of financial 

statements of foreign operations (262) (10,234)
Fair value gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges 28 2,314 (2,314)

  

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 129,860 200,759
  

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company 119,871 183,084
Non-controlling interests 9,989 17,675

  

Total comprehensive income for the year 129,860 200,759
  

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.
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2023 2022
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 15 551,407 499,684
Right-of-use assets 35 50,467 64,421
Investment properties 16 50,065 51,096
Other intangible assets 19 14,685 30,265
Deferred income tax assets 20 6,850 7,867
Investment accounted for using equity method 11 422 272
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 25 42,233 41,377
Other financial assets at amortised cost 22 2,012 2,109
Other non-current assets 23 6,881 —

  

725,022 697,091
  

Current assets
Inventories 21 373,652 523,646
Trade receivables 22 321,399 435,287
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 25 4,219 21,525
Other financial assets at amortised cost 22 8,176 6,810
Other current assets 24 24,080 23,755
Tax recoverable 3,251 3,251
Short-term deposits 26 8,955 —
Cash and cash equivalents 26 317,849 246,949

  

1,061,581 1,261,223
  

Total assets 1,786,603 1,958,314
  

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital 27 42,916 42,660
Other reserves 220,015 215,238
Retained earnings 847,642 768,269

  

1,110,573 1,026,167
Non-controlling interests 50,610 42,814

  

Total equity 1,161,183 1,068,981
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2023 2022
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities
Other payables 30 6,595 18,140
Borrowings 32 7,197 14,393
Lease liabilities 35 41,175 54,741
Deferred income tax liabilities 20 21,453 6,365

  

76,420 93,639
  

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 30 332,755 499,233
Amount due to a non-controlling interest 31 537 537
Borrowings 32 153,506 228,887
Derivative financial instruments 28 — 2,314
Lease liabilities 35 13,595 12,746
Current income tax liabilities 48,607 51,977

  

549,000 795,694
  

Total liabilities 625,420 889,333
  

Total equity and liabilities 1,786,603 1,958,314
  

Net current assets 512,581 465,529
  

Total assets less current liabilities 1,237,603 1,162,620
  

The consolidated financial statements on pages 71 to 159 were approved by the Board of Directors 
on 26 March 2024 and were signed on its behalf.

Ngan Hei Keung  Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP

Director  Director

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2023

Attributable to owners of the Company
 

Share
capital

Share
premium

Hedging
reserve

Capital
reserve

Share based
compensation

reserve
Other

reserve
Exchange

reserve
Retained
earnings Total

Non-
controlling

interests
Total

equity
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance as at 1 January 2023 42,660 166,117 (2,314) 25,878 10,284 10,139 5,134 768,269 1,026,167 42,814 1,068,981

Profit for the year — — — — — — — 117,949 117,949 9,859 127,808
Other comprehensive income:

— Exchange differences on  
 translation of financial  
 statements of foreign operations — — — — — — (392) — (392) 130 (262)

— Fair value losses on cash flow  
 hedges (note 28) — — 2,314 — — — — — 2,314 — 2,314

           

Total comprehensive income 
for the year, net of tax — — 2,314 — — — (392) 117,949 119,871 9,989 129,860

           

2022 final dividend paid (note 14) — — — — — — — (25,702) (25,702) (2,193) (27,895)
2023 interim dividend paid (note 14) — — — — — — — (12,874) (12,874) — (12,874)
Share options scheme:

— Share options exercised  
(note 29) 256 3,489 — — (634) — — — 3,111 — 3,111

           

256 3,489 — — (634) — — (38,576) (35,465) (2,193) (37,658)
           

Balance at 31 December 2023 42,916 169,606 — 25,878 9,650 10,139 4,742 847,642 1,110,573 50,610 1,161,183
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Attributable to owners of the Company
 

Share
capital

Share
premium

Hedging
reserve

Capital
reserve

Share based
compensation

reserve
Other

reserve
Exchange

reserve
Retained
earnings Total

Non-
controlling

interests
Total

equity
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance as at 1 January 2022 40,532 167,016 — 25,878 10,328 8,042 15,126 609,985 876,907 25,214 902,121

Profit for the year — — — — — — — 195,390 195,390 17,917 213,307
Other comprehensive income:

— Exchange differences on  
 translation of financial  
 statements of foreign  
 operations — — — — — — (9,992) — (9,992) (242) (10,234)

— Fair value losses on cash flow  
 hedges (note 28) — — (2,314) — — — — — (2,314) — (2,314)

           

Total comprehensive income 
for the year, net of tax — — (2,314) — — — (9,992) 195,390 183,084 17,675 200,759

           

Partial disposal of a subsidiary  
(note 17) — — — — — 2,097 — — 2,097 (75) 2,022

2021 final dividend paid (note 14) — — — — — — — (16,213) (16,213) — (16,213)
2021 special dividend paid (note 14) — — — — — — — (8,106) (8,106) — (8,106)
2022 interim dividend paid (note 14) — — — — — — — (12,787) (12,787) — (12,787)
Bonus shares issued (note 26) 2,027 (2,027) — — — — — — — — —
Share options scheme:

— Value of services provided — — — — 92 — — — 92 — 92
— Share options exercised  

(note 29) 101 1,128 — — (136) — — — 1,093 — 1,093
           

2,128 (899) — — (44) 2,097 — (37,106) (33,824) (75) (33,899)
           

Balance at 31 December 2022 42,660 166,117 (2,314) 25,878 10,284 10,139 5,134 768,269 1,026,167 42,814 1,068,981
           

The capital reserve of the Group represents the difference between the nominal value of the share 
capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Group’s reorganisation for the purpose of the 
listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange in 2000 over the nominal value of the share 
capital of the Company issued in exchange therefor.

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes. 
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2023 2022
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 33(a) 400,373 280,145
Income tax paid (35,805) (20,519)
Interest paid (15,280) (13,648)

  

Net cash generated from operating activities 349,288 245,978
  

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 2,103 574
Short-term bank deposits (8,955) —
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (229,806) (69,586)
Purchase of intangible assets (5,680) (8,486)
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through  

profit or loss (6,136) (26,798)
Purchase of an insurance contract 23 (10,708) —
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and  

equipment 33(b) 98,887 —
Proceeds from disposal of investments in wealth 

management products 17,065 —
  

Net cash used in investing activities (143,230) (104,296)
  

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of borrowings 33(c) (160,601) (274,324)
Proceeds from borrowings 33(c) 78,024 242,220
Proceeds from exercise of share options 3,111 1,128
Payment for lease liabilities 33(c) (12,698) (18,260)
Dividends paid (38,576) (37,106)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (2,193) —

  

Net cash used in financing activities (132,933) (86,342)
  

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 73,125 55,340

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 246,949 198,890
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (2,225) (7,281)

  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 317,849 246,949
  

The above consolidated cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2023

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Mainland Headwear Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company 
incorporated in Bermuda and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 
Limited (“Stock Exchange”). The address of its registered office is Clarendon House, 2 Church 
Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the 
subsidiaries are set out in note 17 to the financial statements.

These financial statements are presented in thousands of units of Hong Kong dollars 
(“HK$’000”), unless otherwise stated.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (together the 
“Group”) have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards (“HKFRSs”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance Cap. 622. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss (“FVPL”), other non-current assets, derivative financial instruments and 
investment properties which are measured at fair values.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain 
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the 
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of 
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 4.
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(i) New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following standards and amendments for the first time for the 
annual reporting period commencing 1 January 2023:

• Definition of Accounting Estimates — Amendments to HKAS 8

• International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules — Amendments to HKAS 12

• Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction — 
Amendments to HKAS 12

• Insurance Contracts — HKFRS 17 

• Amendments to Insurance Contract — Amendments to HKFRS 17

• Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 — Comparative Information

• Disclosure of Accounting Policies — Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice 
Statement 2

The amendments listed above did not have any impact on the amounts recognised in prior 
periods and are not expected to significantly affect the current or future periods.

(ii) New and amended standards and interpretations not yet adopted by the Group

Certain new accounting standards, amendments to accounting standards and 
interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for this reporting period and 
have not been early adopted by the Group. These standards are not expected to have a 
material impact on the Group in current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable 
future transactions.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(a) Categories of financial instruments

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost

— Trade receivables 321,399 435,287
— Other financial assets at amortised costs 10,188 8,919
— Short-term deposits 8,955 –
— Cash and cash equivalents 317,849 246,949

  

658,391 691,155

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 46,452 62,902
  

704,843 754,057
  

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:

— Trade and other payables 284,818 460,739
— Amount due to a non-controlling interest 537 537
— Lease liabilities 54,770 67,487
— Borrowings 160,703 243,280

  

500,828 772,043

Derivatives used for hedging
— Derivative financial instruments — 2,314

  

500,828 774,357
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(b) Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign 
currency risk, fair value interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit 
risk, and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management objectives focus on the 
unpredictability of financial markets and seek to minimise potential adverse effects on the 
Group’s financial performance.

In light of the simplicity of the structure, the risk management of the Group is carried 
out by the Board of Directors directly. The Board discusses both formally and informally 
principles for overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific areas, such 
as foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and use of financial 
instruments.

(i) Market risk

(a) Foreign currency risk

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are 
measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which 
the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial 
statements are presented in HK$, which is the Company’s functional and the 
Group’s presentation currency.

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily through sales and 
purchases that are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency 
of the operations to which they relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are 
primarily United States dollars (“US$”), Renminbi (“RMB”), Great British Pound 
(“GBP”), Mexico Peso (“Peso”) and Bangladesh Taka (“BDT”), and there are no 
significant assets and liabilities denominated in other currencies. The Group is 
subject to foreign currency risk arising from future commercial transactions and 
recognised assets and liabilities which are denominated in a currency other 
than HK$, US$, RMB, BDT, Peso or GBP, which are the functional currencies of 
the major operating companies within the Group. The Group currently does not 
hedge its foreign currency exposure.

For the companies with HK$ as their functional currency

The exchange between of RMB and HK$ is subject to the rules and regulations 
of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC (“People’s Republic of 
China”) government. The Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely 
monitoring the movement of the foreign currency rates.
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As HK$ is pegged to US$, management believes that the foreign currency risk 
for translations between HK$ and US$ does not have material impact to the 
Group.

At 31 December 2023, if RMB had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the 
HK$ with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would 
have been approximately HK$2,096,180 (2022: HK$2,205,000) lower/higher, 
mainly as a result of the foreign exchange difference on translation of RMB 
denominated current accounts with group companies.

As at 31 December 2023, if GBP had weakened/strengthened by 5% against 
HK$ with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would 
have been approximately HK$299,000 (2022: HK$283,000) higher/lower, 
mainly as a result of the foreign exchange difference on translation of GBP 
denominated currents account with group companies.

For the companies with US$ as their functional currency

At 31 December 2023, if BDT had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the 
US$ with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would 
have been approximately HK$1,390,000 (2022: HK$2,158,000) lower/higher, 
mainly as a result of the foreign exchange difference on translation of BDT 
denominated accrued charges and other payables.

For the companies with GBP as their functional currency

At 31 December 2023, if US$ had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the 
GBP with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would 
have been approximately HK$401,000 (2022: HK$272,000) higher/lower, mainly 
as a result of the foreign exchange difference on translation of US$ denominated 
current accounts with group companies.

(b) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The 
Group’s interest rate risk primarily arises from bank deposits and bank 
borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates and fixed rates expose the 
Group to cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest rate risk respectively. 
The interest rate risk in relation to the Group’s bank deposits is not significant 
as the fluctuation of the interest rates are minimal. The Group has not used any 
derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk.



Mainland Headwear Holdings Limited84

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2023

At 31 December 2023, it is estimated that a general increase/decrease of 
50 basis points in borrowings interest rates, with all other variables held 
constant, would decrease/increase the Group’s post-tax profit for the year by 
approximately HK$671,000 (2022: HK$1,016,000). The 50 basis points increase/
decrease represents management’s assessment of a reasonably possible 
change in interest rates over the period until the next annual reporting date.

(c) Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its investments in listed 
securities in Hong Kong, unlisted equity investments and unlisted convertible 
loan classified as financial assets at FVPL. To manage its price risk arising from 
investments, the Group diversifies its portfolio. Diversification of the portfolio is 
done in accordance with the limits set by the Group.

If the market bid prices or fair value of each investment classified as FVPL 
had been 10% higher/lower, with all other variables held constants, the 
Group’s post-tax profit for the year would increase/decrease by approximately 
HK$4,645,000 (2022: HK$6,290,000), mainly as a result of unrealised gains/
losses on listed securities in Hong Kong, and unlisted investments in the USA 
(“United States of America”), the British Virgin Islands, the PRC and Hong Kong, 
(2022: listed securities in Hong Kong, unlisted investments in the USA and the 
British Virgin Islands, and unlisted convertible loan and investments in wealth 
management products) classified as financial asset at FVPL. A 10% change 
with reference to the historical change of stock price in the market is used when 
reporting the price risk internally to the management.

Management constantly reviews the portfolio of investments and maintains the 
Group’s exposures to price risk within an acceptable level.

(ii) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables, other financial 
assets at amortised cost, financial assets at FVPL and cash and cash equivalents. 
Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit risks are 
monitored on an ongoing basis.

The carrying amount of these balances in the consolidated balance sheet represents 
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial assets.
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(a) Risk management

Majority of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents are placed in those banks 
and financial institutions with a sound credit rating. Management does not 
expect any losses from non-performance by these banks and financial 
institutions as they have no default history in the past.

Trade receivables are due within 30 to 180 days from the date of billing 
depending on the trading relationship. Debtors of the Group may be affected 
by the unfavorable economic conditions and the lower liquidity situation, which 
could in turn impact their ability to repay the amounts owed. Deteriorating 
operating conditions for debtors may also have an impact on management’s 
assessment of the impairment of receivables. To the extent that information is 
available, management has properly reflected revised estimate of expected 
future cash flows in their impairment assessments.

The credit quality of the customers is assessed based on its financial position, 
past experience and other factors.

At the end of reporting period, the Group has certain concentration of credit risk as 
45% (2022: 62%) and 58% (2022: 73%) of the total trade receivables was due from 
the Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers respectively.

(b) Impairment of financial assets

Trade receivables for sales of goods of the Group are subject to the expected 
credit loss model. While other financial assets at amortised cost and cash and 
cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment requirements of HKFRS 
9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”), the identified impairment loss was 
immaterial.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure expected 
credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade 
receivables. The Group measures the expected credit losses on a combination 
of both individual and collective basis.
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To measure the expected credit losses, the trade receivables relating to 
customers with known financial difficulties or significant doubt on collection of 
receivables are assessed individually for provision for impairment allowance. 
Expected credit losses are estimated by grouping the remaining trade 
receivables based on shared credit risk characteristics and collectively 
assessed for likelihood of recovery, taking into account the nature of the 
customers, its geographical location and its ageing category, and applying 
expected credit loss rates to the respective gross carrying amounts of the 
receivables.

(i) Measurement of expected credit loss on individual basis

Receivables relating to customers with known financial difficulties or 
significant doubt on collection of receivables are assessed individually for 
provision for impairment allowance. As at 31 December 2023, the balance 
of loss allowance in respect of these individually assessed receivables was 
HK$4,820,000 (2022: HK$5,894,000).

The following table presents the balances of gross carrying amount and the 
loss allowance in respect of the individually assessed receivables as at 31 
December 2023 and 2022:

As at 31 December
2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Gross carrying amount 4,820 5,894
Loss allowance (4,820) (5,894)

  

Net carrying amount — —
  

(ii) Measurement of expected credit loss on collective basis

Expected credit losses are also estimated by grouping the remaining receivables 
based on shared credit risk characteristics and collectively assessed for likelihood 
of recovery, taking into account the nature of the customers, its geographical 
location and its ageing category, and applying expected credit loss rates to the 
respective gross carrying amounts of the receivables.

The expected credit loss rates are determined based on historical credit 
losses experienced up to past 2 years and are adjusted to reflect current 
and forward-looking information such as macroeconomic factors affecting 
the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.
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On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 was 
determined as follows:

Loss allowance
 

Expected 
loss rate %

Gross
carrying 
amount

Individually
assessed

Collectively
assessed Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 31 December 2023
1 – 60 days 0.7% 218,815 – (1,475) (1,475)
61 – 120 days 1.7% 72,587 – (1,200) (1,200)
Over 120 days 21.5% 47,749 (4,820) (10,257) (15,077)

    

339,151 (4,820) (12,932) (17,752)
    

As at 31 December 2022
1 – 60 days 0.9% 249,829 – (2,325) (2,325)
61 – 120 days 2.0% 134,370 – (2,748) (2,748)
Over 120 days 4.7% 65,090 (5,894) (3,035) (8,929)

    

449,289 (5,894) (8,108) (14,002)
    

Impairment losses on receivables are presented as “net impairment loss 
on financial assets” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. When a 
receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for 
receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are 
credited against the same line item.

Other financial assets at amortised cost and cash and cash equivalents

There is no significant loss allowance for other financial assets at amortised cost 
and cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2023 (2022: same).

(iii) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements 
and its compliance with lending covenants by reviewing each operating entity’s 
cash flow forecast, to ensure that the Group maintains sufficient reserves of cash 
and adequate committed lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet its 
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s total available banking facilities, amounted 
to approximately HK$842,665,000 (2022: HK$788,708,000), of which approximately 
HK$108,965,000 (2022: HK$209,260,000) has been utilised.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity based 
on the remaining period at the end of reporting period to the contractual maturity 
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash 
flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying values, as the impact of 
discounting is not significant.
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31 December 2023

Repayable 
on demand

Within 
one year

In the 
second to 
fifth years 

inclusive
Over five 

years Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-derivatives
Trade and other payables — 278,915 5,903 — 284,818
Amount due to a  

non-controlling interest 537 — — — 537
Lease liabilities — 14,928 34,460 10,742 60,130
Borrowings 108,965 48,297 7,700 — 164,962

     

Total 109,502 342,140 48,063 10,742 510,447
     

31 December 2022

Repayable 
on demand

Within 
one year

In the 
second to 
fifth years 
inclusive

Over five 
years Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-derivatives
Trade and other payables — 442,991 17,748 — 460,739
Amount due to a  

non-controlling interest 537 — — — 537
Lease liabilities — 14,410 48,625 11,284 74,319
Borrowings 209,243 21,982 15,928 — 247,153

Derivatives
Cash flow hedges
Exchange rate forward 

contracts
– Receipts — (61,363) — — (61,363)
– Payments — 63,677 — — 63,677

     

Total 209,780 481,697 82,301 11,284 785,062
     

Specifically, for term loans which contain a repayment on demand clause which can 
be exercised at the bank’s sole discretion, the analysis shows the cash outflow based 
on the earliest period in which the entity can be required to pay, that is if the lenders 
were to invoke their unconditional rights to call the loans with immediate effect. The 
maturity analysis for other bank borrowings is prepared based on the scheduled 
repayment dates.

The table that follows summaries the maturity analysis of term loans with a repayment 
on demand clause based on agreed scheduled repayments set out in the loan 
agreements. The amounts include interest payments computed using contractual 
rates. As a result, these amounts were greater than the amounts disclosed in the “on 
demand” time band in the maturity analysis above. Taking into account the Group’s 
financial position, the directors do not consider that it is probable that the bank will 
exercise its discretion to immediate repayment. The directors believe that such term 
loans will be repaid in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the 
loan agreements.
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Due on 
demand or 

within 
1 year

More than 
1 year but 
less than 

2 years

More than 
2 years 

but less 
than 

5 years Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

31 December 2023
Principal 52,677 23,215 33,073 108,965
Interest 3,359 2,924 9,011 15,294

    

56,036 26,139 42,084 124,259
    

31 December 2022
Principal 162,743 36,731 9,769 209,243
Interest 11,653 3,166 847 15,666

    

174,396 39,897 10,616 224,909
    

(c) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for 
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services 
commensurately with the level of risk, and to support the Group’s sustainable growth and 
to provide capital for the purpose of potential mergers and acquisitions.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain 
a balance between the higher shareholder returns that might be possible with higher 
levels of borrowings, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes 
in economic conditions. The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio 
and the Group will have sufficient financial resources and banking facilities to meet its 
commitments and working capital requirements. The Group’s gearing ratio (being the 
Group‘s total borrowings and lease liabilities over total equity) is as follows.

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Borrowings (note 32) 160,703 243,280
Lease liabilities (note 35) 54,770 67,487

  

Net debt 215,473 310,767
Equity 1,161,183 1,068,981

  

Gearing ratio (%) 18.6 29.1
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(d) Fair value estimation

(i) Fair value hierarchy

The table below analyses the Group’s financial instruments carried at fair values as at 
31 December 2023 by level of the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair 
values. Such inputs are categorised into three levels within a fair value hierarchy as 
follows:

• Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
(level 1).

• Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable 
for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, 
derived from prices) (level 2).

• Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).

See note 16 for disclosures of investment properties that are measured at fair 
values. The following tables present the Group’s financial assets and liability that are 
measured at fair values:

2023
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets
Financial assets at fair value through  

profit or loss
— Unlisted investment in the USA — — 10,262 10,262
—  Unlisted investment in  

 the British Virgin Islands — — 17,815 17,815
—  Unlisted investment in the PRC — — 12,483 12,483
—  Unlisted investment in Hong Kong — — 1,673 1,673
— Listed securities in Hong Kong 4,219 — — 4,219

    

Total financial assets 4,219 — 42,233 46,452
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2022
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets
Financial assets at fair value through  

profit or loss
— Unlisted investment in the USA — — 10,615 10,615
—  Unlisted investment in  

 the British Virgin Islands — — 21,634 21,634
—  Unlisted investment in the PRC — — 8,156 8,156
—  Unlisted investment in Hong Kong — — 972 972
— Listed securities in Hong Kong 4,460 — — 4,460
—  Investments in wealth management  

 products — 17,065 — 17,065
    

Total financial assets 4,460 17,065 41,377 62,902
    

Liability
Derivatives used for hedging
— Exchange rate forward contracts — 2,314 — 2,314

    

There were no transfers of financial assets and liability between the fair value 
hierarchy classifications during the year (2022: same).

There were no other changes in valuation techniques during the year (2022: same).

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly 
traded derivatives, and trading and equity securities) is based on quoted market 
prices at the end of the reporting period. The quoted market price used for financial 
assets held by the Group is the current bid price. These instruments are included in 
level 1.

Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for 
example, over-the-counter derivatives) is determined by using valuation techniques 
which maximise the use of observable market data and rely as little as possible on 
entity-specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument 
are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

Financial instruments in level 3

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the 
instrument is included in level 3. This is the case for unlisted investments.
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(ii) Valuation techniques used to determine fair values

Specific valuation techniques used to value level 3 financial instruments include 
techniques such as discounted cash flow analysis and net asset value model. There 
are no changes in valuation techniques during the year.

The Group’s finance department reviews the valuations of financial assets required 
for financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair values. As part of the valuation 
process, this team reports directly to the chief financial officer (“CFO”) and external 
valuers will be engaged, if necessary.

In applying the discounted cash flow technique, management has taken into account 
the estimated amount that the Group would receive to sell the instrument at the end 
of the reporting period, taking into account current interest rates and the current 
credit worthiness of the counterparties. Where discounted cash flow techniques are 
used, estimated future cash flows are based on management’s best estimates and 
the discount rate is a market related rate for a similar instrument at the end of the 
reporting period.

(iii) Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

The following table presents the changes in level 3 financial instruments for the year 
ended 31 December 2023:

Financial asset at fair value through 

profit or loss

Unlisted 

investment 

in the USA

Unlisted 

investment 

in the British 

Virgin Islands

Unlisted 

investment in 

the PRC

Unlisted 

investment in 

Hong Kong Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 1 January 2023 10,615 21,634 8,156 972 41,377

Addition — — 5,086 1,050 6,136

Fair value losses on revaluation 
recognised in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss (353) (3,819) (759) (349) (5,280)     

As at 31 December 2023 10,262 17,815 12,483 1,673 42,233     

Unrealised losses recognised in 
the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss attributable to 
balances held at the end of 
reporting period (353) (3,819) (759) (349) (5,280)     
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The following table presents the changes in level 3 financial instruments for the year 
ended 31 December 2022:

Financial asset at fair value through 
profit or loss

Unlisted 
investment 
in the USA

Unlisted 
investment 

in the British 
Virgin Islands

Unlisted 
convertible 

loan

Unlisted 
investment in 

the PRC

Unlisted 
investment in 

Hong Kong Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 1 January 2022 9,122 21,787 9,444 — — 40,353
Addition — — — 8,625 1,128 9,753
Fair value gains/(losses) on 

revaluation recognised 
in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss 1,493 (153) (9,444) (469) (156) (8,729)      

As at 31 December 2022 10,615 21,634 — 8,156 972 41,377      

Unrealised gains/(losses) 
recognised in the 
consolidated statement 
of profit or loss 
attributable to balances 
held at the end of 
reporting period 1,493 (153) (9,444) (469) (156) (8,729)      

Unlisted investment in the USA

The unlisted investment in the USA classified as financial asset at FVPL represents 
an investment in a 18% equity interest of an unlisted fund in the USA. It is principally 
engaged in the acquisition and management of a retail plaza and related properties 
for re-development or rental appreciation. The Group determines the net asset value 
of the fund approximates the fair value of the unlisted fund in the USA. The fair 
value gains/losses are included in “other gains/(losses) — net” in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss.
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Unlisted investment in the British Virgin Islands

The unlisted investment in the British Virgin Islands classified as financial asset at 
FVPL represents an investment in 2.3% equity interest of an unlisted fund in the 
British Virgin Islands, which is not traded in an active market. The Group determines 
the net asset value of the fund approximates the fair value of the unlisted fund in the 
British Virgin Islands. The fair value gains/losses are included in “other gains/(losses) 
— net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Unlisted investment in the PRC

The unlisted investment in the PRC classified as financial asset at FVPL represents 
a capital contribution agreement in relation to a contribution of RMB30 million 
(approximately HK$36.6 million) to a limited partnership established in the PRC (the 
“PRC Fund”), which the Group executed on 15 December 2021. The contribution 
by the Group represents about 3.05% of the targeted contribution of the PRC Fund. 
A partnership agreement was signed on 28 January 2022. During the year ended 
31 December 2023, a capital contribution of RMB4.6 million (approximately HK$5.1 
million) (2022: RMB7.5 million (approximately HK$8.6 million)) was made. The PRC 
Fund is not traded in an active market. The Group considers the net asset value of 
the PRC Fund approximates the fair value of the PRC Fund. The fair value gains/
losses are included in “other gains/(losses) — net” in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss.

Unlisted investment in Hong Kong

The unlisted investment in Hong Kong classified as financial asset at FVPL 
represents a subscription agreement in relation to a contribution of US$0.5 million 
(approximately HK$3.9 million) to a limited partnership established in Hong Kong (the 
“Hong Kong Fund”), which the Group executed on 14 March 2022. The contribution 
by the Group represents about 2% of the targeted contribution of the Hong Kong 
Fund. During the year ended 31 December 2023, a capital contribution of US$0.1 
million (approximately HK$0.8 million) (2022: US$0.2 million (approximately HK$1.6 
million)) was made. The Hong Kong Fund is not traded in an active market. The 
Group considers the net asset value of the Hong Kong Fund approximates the fair 
value of the Hong Kong Fund. The fair value gains/losses are included in “other 
gains/(losses) — net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience 
and other factors, including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on 
the Group and that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

(a) Provision for inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories 
is written down to net realisable value when there is an objective evidence that the cost 
of inventories may not be recoverable. The cost of inventories may not be recoverable if 
those inventories are aged and damaged, if they have become wholly or partially obsolete, 
or if their selling prices have declined. The cost of inventories may also not be recoverable 
if the estimated costs to be incurred to make the sales have increased.

The amount written off to the consolidated statement of profit or loss is the difference 
between the carrying value and net realisable value of the inventories. In determining 
the net realisable value of inventories, significant judgement is required. In making this 
judgement, the Group evaluates, among other factors, the duration and extent by all 
means to which the amount will be recovered.

(b) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions. Significant judgement 
is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are transactions and 
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group recognises 
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes 
will be required. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts 
that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax 
provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

(c) Impairment of trade receivables

The Group makes provision for impairment of trade receivables based on assumptions 
about risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making 
these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the 
Group’s past experience, existing market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates 
at the end of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are 
disclosed in note 22.
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive directors have been identified as the chief operating decision-maker. The 
executive directors have determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by 
them that are used to make strategic decisions.

The executive directors assess the performance of the operating segments based on 
reportable segment profit/(loss) which excludes fair value losses on financial assets at FVPL, 
fair value (losses)/gains on investment properties, gain on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment, share-based payment expenses, unallocated corporate income and expenses, 
finance income and costs, share of gain/(loss) from an investment accounted for using equity 
method and income tax expense.

The executive directors assess the performance of business operations by segment as follows:

(i) Manufacturing Business: The Group manufactures headwear products for sale to its 
Trading Business as well as to external customers. The principal manufacturing facilities 
are located in Bangladesh, Mexico and Shenzhen, the People’s Republic of China 
(“PRC”). Customers are mainly located in the United States of America (the “USA”) and 
Europe.

(ii) Trading Business: The trading and distribution of headwear, apparel, small leather 
goods, bags and accessories of the Group is operating through Aquarius Ltd (“AQ”), H3 
Sportgear LLC (“H3”) and San Diego Hat Company (“SDHC”) which focus on USA market, 
Drew Pearson International (Europe) Ltd. (“DPI Europe”) which focus on the Europe 
Market. The Group also engages in e-commerce business which mainly focus on the USA 
market.
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Manufacturing Trading Total
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue from external customers 821,760 1,127,566 597,234 746,858 1,418,994 1,874,424
Inter-segment revenue 55,202 76,565 — — 55,202 76,565      

Reportable segment revenue 876,962 1,204,131 597,234 746,858 1,474,196 1,950,989      

Reportable segment profit/(loss) 186,886 309,750 (56,563) (59,079) 130,323 250,671
Financial assets at fair value through  

profit or loss
— fair value losses (5,521) (10,094)

Fair value (losses)/gains on investment properties (205) 1,176
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 53,897 —
Share-based payment expenses — (92)
Unallocated corporate income 30,329 28,329
Unallocated corporate expenses (18,619) (5,931)  

Profit from operations 190,204 264,059
Finance income 2,103 574
Finance costs (15,280) (13,648)
Share of loss from an investment accounted  

for using equity method 150 (124)
Income tax expense (49,369) (37,554)  

Profit for the year 127,808 213,307  

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 42,793 35,383 8,450 8,985 51,243 44,368
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 5,315 11,153 8,659 8,530 13,974 19,683
Amortisation of other intangible assets — — 21,293 26,201 21,293 26,201
Impairment of goodwill — — — 22,511 — 22,511  

Manufacturing Trading Total
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Reportable segment assets 794,939 859,552 557,820 726,425 1,352,759 1,585,977
Investment properties 50,065 51,096
Deferred income tax assets 6,850 7,867
Investment accounted for using equity method 422 272
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 46,452 62,902
Tax recoverable 3,251 3,251
Short-term deposits 8,955 —
Cash and cash equivalents 317,849 246,949  

Total assets 1,786,603 1,958,314  

Reportable segment liabilities 186,589 365,100 199,900 210,665 386,489 575,765
Deferred income tax liabilities 21,453 6,365
Current income tax liabilities 48,607 51,977
Borrowings 160,703 243,280
Other corporate liabilities 8,168 11,946  

Total liabilities 625,420 889,333  

Capital expenditure incurred during the year 145,653 136,688 7,986 68,677 153,639 205,365      
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Segment assets exclude investment properties, deferred income tax assets, investment 
accounted for using equity method, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, tax 
recoverable, short-term deposits and cash and cash equivalents. In addition, corporate assets 
which are not directly attributable to the business activities of any operating segment are not 
allocated to a segment, which primarily applies to the Group’s headquarters.

Segment liabilities exclude current and deferred income tax liabilities, borrowings and other 
corporate liabilities which are not directly attributable to the business activities of any operating 
segment.

Capital expenditure incurred during the year comprises additions to property, plant and 
equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets.

(i) Revenue from external customers

The Group’s revenue from external customers is divided into the following geographical 
areas based on the location of the customers. The revenue is recognised at a point in time 
when control of the products has been transferred.

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

USA 1,229,812 1,646,338
Europe 149,395 157,639
PRC 9,487 16,528
Hong Kong 8,193 9,814
Others 22,107 44,105

  

Total 1,418,994 1,874,424
  

During the year ended 31 December 2023, revenue derived from the Group’s largest 
customer (who is a group of affiliated companies of a shareholder) amounted to 
HK$598,728,000 or 42.2% of the Group’s revenue (2022: HK$761,903,000 or 40.6%). 
These revenues were attributable to the Manufacturing Business.
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Accounting policies of revenue recognition

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing, distribution of headwear products 
and other accessories. Sales are recognised when control of the products has been 
transferred, being when the products are delivered to the customers, the customer 
has accepted the products and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the 
customer’s acceptance of the products.

A receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered as this is the point in time that 
the consideration is unconditional because only the passage of time is required before the 
payment is due.

A contract liability is recognised when a customer pays consideration, or is contractually 
required to pay consideration and the amount is already due, before the Group recognises 
the related revenue. The Group recognised its contract liabilities under “other payables 
and accruals” in the consolidated balance sheet.

(ii) Non-current assets

The geographical location of the non-current assets is based on the location of operations 
and physical location of the assets:

2023  2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Bangladesh 297,205 312,633
USA 188,223 246,758
Mexico 113,577 —
PRC 35,116 36,963
Hong Kong 20,768 15,107
Europe 6,365 6,121

  

661,254 617,582
Other intangible assets 14,685 30,265
Deferred income tax assets 6,850 7,867
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 42,233 41,377

  

725,022 697,091
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6. OTHER INCOME

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Rental income 29,065 27,818
Sundry income 1,888 602

  

30,953 28,420
  

7. OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES) — NET

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
— fair value losses (note 25) (5,521) (10,094)

Net foreign exchange gain 621 7,760
Fair value (losses)/gains on investment properties (note 16) (205) 1,176
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 53,897 —
Loss on investment in an insurance contract (note 23) (3,827) —
Gain on lease modification — 480

  

44,965 (678)
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8. EXPENSES BY NATURE

Expenses included in cost of sales, selling and distribution costs and net impairment losses on 
financial assets from the continuing operations are analysed as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Employee benefit expense (note 10) 342,767 398,730
Cost of material and trading stock 625,429 829,745
Auditors’ remuneration

— Audit services (PwC) 3,033 2,847
— Audit services (Non-PwC) 1,428 1,533
— Non-audit services 156 206

Licence fees 12,940 24,863
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 15) 51,243 44,368
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 35) 13,974 19,683
Amortisation of other intangible assets (note 19) 21,293 26,201
Short-term lease expenses (note 35) 6,432 2,661
Net provision for inventories (note 21) 3,716 6,861
Claim expenses 3,781 10,474
Advertising expenses 16,558 20,823
Delivery expenses 33,173 61,376
Others 165,035 162,419

  

Total 1,300,958 1,612,790
  

9. FINANCE COSTS — NET

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on bank loans and other borrowings (10,723) (10,053)
Interest on lease liabilities (note 35) (1,663) (1,633)
Interest accretion on licence fee payables (2,894) (1,962)

  

Interest costs (15,280) (13,648)
Interest income 2,103 574

  

Finance costs — net (13,177) (13,074)
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10. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Employee remuneration (including directors’ emoluments  
and retirement benefit costs)
— Salaries and allowances 339,447 392,461
— Contribution to retirement scheme 3,020 6,177
— Long service payments 300 —
— Share-based payment expenses (note 29) — 92

  

342,767 398,730
  

Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals included three (2022: two) directors whose emoluments are 
reflected in the analysis shown in note 39. The details of the emoluments of the remaining two 
(2022: three) highest paid individuals are as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Basic salaries, housing allowances, other allowances  
and benefits in kind 5,381 9,810

Discretionary bonuses — 1,414
Contributions to retirement scheme 18 18

  

5,399 11,242
  

The emoluments of these two (2022: three) employees are within the following bands:

2023 2022

HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 — —
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2 1
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 — —
HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000 — 1
HK$4,000,001 — HK$4,500,000 — —
HK$4,500,001 — HK$5,000,000 — 1

  



Annual Report 2023 103

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2023

11. INVESTMENT ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY METHOD

The Group has a 50% interest in a joint arrangement, namely, Treasureland Group Limited 
which was set up as a partnership together with Tranquil Grand Limited, an independent third 
party, to distribute apparel and accessories to wholesale customers in the USA. The capital 
injection amounted to HK$700,000.

The principal place of business of the joint operation is in the USA.

Set out below is the joint venture of the Group as at 31 December 2023 and 2022. The entity 
listed below has share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held directly by 
the Group. The country of incorporation or registration is also its principal place of business, 
and the proportion of ownership interest is the same as the proportion of voting rights held.

Name of entity

Place of 
business/

country of 
incorporation % of ownership interest

Nature of 
relationship

Measurement 
method Carrying amount

2023 2022 2023 2022
% % HK$’000 HK$’000

Treasureland Group Limited USA 50 50 Joint venture Equity method 422 272
  

Treasureland Group Limited distributes apparel and accessories to wholesale customers in 
the USA market. It is a strategic investment for the Group as an expansion of e-commerce 
business. It is a private entity which no quoted price is available.

This investment is immaterial to the Group and has been accounted for using equity method of 
accounting.

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Carrying amount of the joint venture 422 272

Amount of the Group’s share of profit/(loss) from operation 150 (124)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) 150 (124)
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current year
— Hong Kong profits tax — 5,170
— Overseas tax 29,821 38,643

  

29,821 43,813

Under/(over)-provision in prior years
— Hong Kong profits tax 3,321 (3,760)
— Overseas tax (200) —

  

32,942 40,053

Deferred income tax (note 20) 16,427 (2,499)
  

49,369 37,554
  

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) on the estimated 
assessable profits for the year.

Taxation on overseas profits has been calculated on the estimated assessable profits for the 
year at the rates of taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates. Macau 
complementary (corporate) tax has been provided at the rate of 12% (2022: 12%) on the 
estimated assessable profits for the year. The corporate income tax of the United States 
subsidiaries are subject to both federal income tax rate and state income tax rate, which are 
21% and 1.22% (2022: 21% and 1.20%) respectively for the year.
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The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise 
using the tax rate of the home country of the Company as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before income tax 177,177 250,861
  

Calculated at a taxation rate of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) 29,234 41,392
Effect of different taxation rates in other countries (5,481) (12,402)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 5,862 8,744
Income not subject to tax (787) (1,891)
Tax losses for which no deferred income tax assets was 

recognised 15,012 5,471
De-recognition of previously recognised tax losses 1,754 —
Recognition of previously unrecognised deferred tax liabilities 654 —
Under/(over)-provision in prior years 3,121 (3,760)

  

Income tax expense 49,369 37,554
  

Accounting policies of current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or 
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period in the countries where the Company 
and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates 
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation 
is subject to interpretation and it establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of 
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to owners of the 
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

2023 2022

Profit attributable to owners of the Company (HK$’000) 117,949 195,390
  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 428,168,589 405,672,155
Adjustment for bonus issue (note 27) — 20,266,164

  

Weighted average number of ordinary share  
for basic earnings per share 428,168,589 425,938,319

  

Basic earnings per share (HK cents) 27.5473 45.8728
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(b) Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all outstanding share options. A 
calculation is done to determine the number of shares that could have been acquired 
at fair value (determined as the average annual market share price of the Company’s 
shares) based on the monetary value of the subscription rights attached to outstanding 
share options. The number of shares calculated as above is compared with the number of 
shares that would have been issued assuming exercise of the share options.

2023 2022

Profit attributable to owners of the Company (HK$’000) 117,949 195,390
  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 428,168,589 405,672,155
Adjustment for share options 8,864,647 7,856,087
Adjustment for bonus issue (note 27) — 20,266,164

  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for  
diluted earnings per share 437,033,236 433,794,406

  

Diluted earnings per share (HK cents) 26.9886 45.0421
  

14. DIVIDENDS

A final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2023 of 6 HK cents per share, 
amounting to a total dividend of HK$25,750,000. These financial statements do not reflect this 
dividend payable. The amount of proposed final dividend were based on 429,164,448 (2022: 
426,601,448) shares in issue as at 31 December 2023.

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interim dividend of 3 HK cents (2022: 3 HK cents)  
per share 12,874 12,787

Proposed final dividend of 6 HK cents  
(2022: 6 HK cents) per share 25,750 25,596

  

38,624 38,383
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Construction 

in progress

Land and 

buildings

Furniture and 

equipment

Leasehold 

improvements Machinery

Motor 

vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2022

Cost — 363,885 67,937 34,503 304,673 10,605 781,603

Accumulated depreciation and 

impairment — (65,653) (44,879) (25,075) (219,923) (10,044) (365,574)       

Net book amount — 298,232 23,058 9,428 84,750 561 416,029       

Year ended 31 December 2022

Net book amount at 1 January 2022 — 298,232 23,058 9,428 84,750 561 416,029

Additions 984 11,391 8,128 1,901 105,905 771 129,080

Depreciation — (18,203) (11,591) (1,904) (12,296) (374) (44,368)

Exchange differences — (729) (35) — (286) (7) (1,057)       

Closing net book amount 984 290,691 19,560 9,425 178,073 951 499,684       

At 31 December 2022

Cost 984 374,468 75,916 36,368 405,613 10,973 904,322

Accumulated depreciation and 

impairment — (83,777) (56,356) (26,943) (227,540) (10,022) (404,638)       

Net book amount 984 290,691 19,560 9,425 178,073 951 499,684       

Year ended 31 December 2023

Net book amount at 1 January 2023 984 290,691 19,560 9,425 178,073 951 499,684

Additions 2,108 106,474 5,378 174 29,192 4,386 147,712

Depreciation — (17,918) (8,354) (1,970) (22,122) (879) (51,243)

Disposals — (44,952) (5) — (33) — (44,990)

Exchange differences — 354 1 — (110) (1) 244       

Closing net book amount 3,092 334,649 16,580 7,629 185,000 4,457 551,407       

At 31 December 2023

Cost 3,092 428,020 76,774 16,601 416,834 14,123 955,444

Accumulated depreciation and 

impairment — (93,371) (60,194) (8,972) (231,834) (9,666) (404,037)       

Net book amount 3,092 334,649 16,580 7,629 185,000 4,457 551,407       
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Accounting policies of property, plant and equipment

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to 
allocate cost, net of their residual values over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings 3.33% to 10%
Furniture and equipment 10% to 33%
Leasehold improvements Shorter of the lease period or 10% to 20%
Machinery 10%
Motor vehicles 12.5% to 20%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the 
end of each reporting period.

Depreciation expenses have been charged as below:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost of sales 40,653 34,857
Administration expenses 10,590 9,511

  

Total depreciation expenses 51,243 44,368
  

The Group’s land is freehold and located outside Hong Kong.

The Group entered into a collaboration agreement (the “Agreement”) on 2 March 2023, with the 
Sonora Government, a state government of Mexico, and H. City Hall, a territorial division and 
political and administrative organisation of the municipality of Agua Prieta of Sonora, Mexico, 
regarding the construction and development of various infrastructures, at a 150-hectare plot of 
land in Mexico (the “Land”) within a five-year period. The Group is required to utilise the Land 
within a specified timeframe for the purposes of the construction and operation of a factory with 
a specified number of employees and the construction of a warehouse, residential units, roads 
and infrastructure, fences, and walls on the Land (the “Conditions”).

If the Group meets the Conditions under the Agreement, the legal ownership of the Land will be 
transferred to the Group, free of charge and free of any contribution.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has assessed that it is too early to conclude whether 
the Group can comply with all the Conditions. Accordingly, no government grants have been 
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2023.



Annual Report 2023 109

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2023

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

At fair value
Opening balance at 1 January 51,096 51,928
Net (losses)/gains from fair value adjustment (205) 1,176
Exchange differences (826) (2,008)

  

Closing balance at 31 December 50,065 51,096
  

The following amounts have been recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Rental income 5,548 6,228
Direct operating expenses arising from investment property 

that generated rental income (1,789) (1,450)
  

The period of leases whereby the Group leases out its investment properties under operating 
leases ranged from 1 to 5 years.

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the future aggregate minimum rentals receivables under non-
cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

No later than 1 year 5,421 6,083
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years — 5,382

  

5,421 11,465
  

The valuation of the investment properties is based on the valuation carried out by independent 
professionally qualified valuer who holds a recognised relevant professional qualification and 
has recent experience in the locations and segments of the investment properties valued. The 
revaluation gains are included in “other gains/(losses) – net” in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss. The following table analyses the investment properties carried at fair value, by 
level of inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Such inputs are categorised 
into three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

• Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets (level 1).
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• Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset, 
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

• Inputs for the asset that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable 
inputs) (level 3).

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels 
as of the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. There were no 
transfers among levels 1, 2 and 3 during the year (2022: same).

Fair value measurements 
at 31 December 2023 using

Description

Quoted prices in 
active markets 

for identical 
assets 

(Level 1)

Significant 
other 

observable 
inputs 

(Level 2)

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
(Level 3) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Investment properties:
Factory premises in the PRC — — 19,616 19,616
Residential building units in the PRC — 5,553 — 5,553
Residential building units in the USA — 24,896 — 24,896

    

— 30,449 19,616 50,065
    

Fair value measurements 
at 31 December 2022 using

Description

Quoted prices in 
active markets 

for identical 
assets 

(Level 1)

Significant 
other 

observable 
inputs 

(Level 2)

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
(Level 3) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Investment properties:
Factory premises in the PRC — — 21,818 21,818
Residential building units in the PRC — 5,704 — 5,704
Residential building units in the USA — 23,574 — 23,574

    

— 29,278 21,818 51,096
    

The Group’s finance department reviews the valuations performed by the independent valuers 
for financial reporting purposes. This team reports directly to the CFO and group senior 
management for discussions in relation to the valuation processes and the reasonableness of 
the valuation results.
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The valuation of the residential units in the USA and the PRC was determined using the sale 
comparison approach. Sales prices of comparable properties in close proximity are adjusted 
for differences in key attributes such as rental value, time, location, size and other relevant 
factors. The most significant input into this valuation approach is the rental value.

The valuation of the factory premises in the PRC was determined using the income approach. 
The potential rent of the property (with reference to current market rent) of which the Group 
is entitled to receive for the residual term of the lease of property is capitalised. The most 
significant impact into this valuation approach is the rental value.

These significant unobservable inputs include:

Description

Fair values 
at 31-Dec-23 

(HK$’000)
Valuation 
technique

Unobservable 
inputs

Range of 
unobservable 
inputs (probability-
weighted average)

Relationship of 
unobservable 
inputs to fair value

Factory premises  
in the PRC

19,616
(RMB18,900,000)

Income 
approach

Term rent RMB16–RMB19  
per month  
per square metre

The higher the rent,  
the higher the  
fair value

Market rent RMB19 per month  
per square metre

The higher the rent,  
the higher the  
fair value

Term yield 8% The higher the  
yield, the lower  
the fair value

Market yield 8% The higher the  
yield, the lower  
the fair value

Description

Fair values 
at 31-Dec-22 

(HK$’000)
Valuation 
technique

Unobservable 
inputs

Range of 
unobservable 
inputs (probability-
weighted average)

Relationship of 
unobservable  
inputs to fair value

Factory premises  
in the PRC

21,818
(RMB19,200,000)

Income 
approach

Term rent RMB17–RMB20 
per month 
per square metre

The higher the rent, 
the higher the  
fair value

Market rent RMB21 per month  
per square metre

The higher the rent, 
the higher the  
fair value

Term yield 8% The higher the  
yield, the lower  
the fair value

Market yield 8% The higher the  
yield, the lower  
the fair value
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17. SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2023 and 2022:

Name of company

Place of 
incorporation/
registration

Principal place 
of operation

Nominal value of 
issued ordinary 

share capital/
registered capital

Interest held 
by the Group Principal activities
2023 2022

Aquarius Ltd USA USA US$361,630 
common

100% 100% Trading of headwear, small 
leather goods, bags and 
accessories

Drew Pearson International 
(Europe) Ltd. (note a)

The United 
Kingdom

The United 
Kingdom

£10,000 ordinary 90% 90% Trading of headwear and 
accessories

Exquisite Property Limited The United 
Kingdom

The United 
Kingdom

£1 ordinary 100% 100% Property holding

Famewell Limited The British  
Virgin Island

USA US$1 ordinary 100% 100% Property holding

Famewell Corp USA USA US$100 common 100% 100% Property holding

Guang Zhou Jian Hao  
Headwear Manufacturing Ltd.

PRC (note b) PRC £1,500,000 
registered paid-up 

capital

100% 100% Property holding

H3 Sportgear LLC (note a) USA USA US$3,649,700 
common

90% 90% Trading of headwear, 
apparel and accessories

Mainland Development (BD)  
Co. Ltd.

Bangladesh Bangladesh BDT90,000,000
ordinary

100% 100% Property holding

Mainland Mexico Headwear 
Manufacturing Ltd

Mexico Mexico MXN50,000 
ordinary

100% — Manufacture and sales of 
headwear

Mainland Mexico Investment 
Holdings Co Ltd

Mexico Mexico MXN10,000 
ordinary

100% — Investment holding

Mainland Mexico  
Manufacturing Limited

Samoa Mexico US$1 ordinary 100% — Investment holding

Mainland Sewing Headwear 
Manufacturing Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 
ordinary

100% 100% Trading of headwear

Medone LLC USA USA US$1 common 100% 100% E-commerce business

New Wintax Commercial 
Company Limited

Macau Macau MOP$100,000
ordinary

100% 100% Provision of research 
and development, 
quality control and 
administrative services

Rhys Trading Ltd. The British  
Virgin Islands

Hong Kong US$10,000 
ordinary

100% 100% Investment holding

SA Property Investment LLC USA USA US$1 common 100% 100% Investment holding
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Name of company

Place of 
incorporation/
registration

Principal place 
of operation

Nominal value of 
issued ordinary 

share capital/
registered capital

Interest held 
by the Group Principal activities
2023 2022

San Diego Hat Company USA USA US$10,000 
common

100% 100% Trading of headwear and 
accessories

SDHC Property LLC USA USA US$1 common 100% 100% Property holding

SDH3 Whiptail LLC USA USA US$1 common 100% 100% Property holding

Simplylife LLC USA USA US$1 common 100% 100% E-commerce business

Smart Sourcing (HK) Limited 
(formerly called Hatworld  
HK Limited)

Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Sourcing and trading 
of headwear and 
accessories

SMS FBA LLC USA USA US$1 common 100% 100% E-commerce business

Raise Your Game LLC USA USA US$1 common 100% 100% E-commerce business

Sky Trade Global Limited  
(note a)

The British  
Virgin Islands

Bangladesh US$1 ordinary 90% 90% Trading of headwear

Top Super Sportswear 
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.

PRC (note b) PRC HK$52,000,000
registered

paid-up
capital

100% 100% Trading of headwear and 
accessories

Treasure Trend Corporation 
Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary 100% — Manufacturing and sale of 
headwear

Unimas Sportswear Ltd.  
(note a)

Bangladesh Bangladesh BDT856,694,300
ordinary

90% 90% Manufacture and sale of 
headwear

Wintax Caps (Shenzhen)  
Co., Ltd.

PRC (note b) PRC HK$20,000,000
registered

paid-up
capital

100% 100% Manufacture and sale of 
headwear

Wintax Sky Trade Limited Macau Macau MOP$100,000
ordinary

100% 100% Trading of headwear

Wintax Trading Limited Macau Macau MOP$100,000
ordinary

100% 100% Trading of headwear and 
provision of digitizing 
services

note a:

The non-controlling interests in respect of these companies are not material.

note b:

These companies are registered in the PRC in the form of wholly foreign-owned enterprises.

Other than Rhys Trading Ltd. which is held directly by the Company, all subsidiaries are held 
by the Company indirectly.
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18. GOODWILL

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Opening net book amount — 22,511
Impairment — (22,511)

  

Closing net book amount — —
  

Cost — 33,821
Accumulated impairment — (33,821)

  

Net book amount — —
  

The relevant goodwill is allocated to the respective groups of CGUs, which represent the lowest 
level within the Group at which the relevant goodwill is monitored for internal management 
purposes, and not larger than an operating segment.

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on the higher of the fair values less 
costs to sell and value in use calculations. These calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections 
based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period. Cash flows 
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rates not exceeding 
the long-term average growth rate of the countries in which CGU operated.
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The key assumptions used are as follows:

2022

Trading Business – H3
Sales growth rate 4%
Gross profit margin 25%
Discount rate 16%

The budgeted sales and gross profit margin of the CGUs were determined by the management 
based on past performance and their expectations for market development. The discount rate 
used is pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the segment.

H3 is mainly engaged in the trading of various licensed headwear, apparel and related 
accessories to department stores in the USA. Its customers are mainly department stores, 
whose operation were significantly challenged by the macro environment during the year 
ended 31 December 2022. Despite H3 placed a significant amount of effort on marketing 
and advertising activities, its actual results fell short of expectation, and H3 suffered from an 
operational loss during the year ended 31 December 2022. In view of the loss suffered by 
H3, the uncertainties over the future profitability of its business model as well as the Group’s 
resources to place in this operation, the management considered an impairment indicator 
existed as at 31 December 2022. For the purpose of goodwill impairment assessment, the 
Group revised its cash flow forecasts of this CGU. The management assessed the recoverable 
amount of H3 as at 31 December 2022 based on the value in use. The recoverable amount was 
lower than the carrying amount of this CGU and this shortfall led to full impairment of goodwill 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 
2022.
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19. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Trademarks
Licensing 

rights

Acquired 
customer 

relationship Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2022
Cost 6,495 70,548 15,130 92,173
Accumulated amortisation (6,495) (41,805) (14,265) (62,565)

    

Net book amount — 28,743 865 29,608
    

Year ended 31 December 2022
Opening net book amount — 28,743 865 29,608
Additions — 24,905 — 24,905
Additions arising from disposal of  

a subsidiary (note 17) — 2,022 — 2,022
Amortisation — (25,358) (843) (26,201)
Exchange differences — (69) — (69)

    

Closing net book amount — 30,243 22 30,265
    

At 31 December 2022
Cost 6,495 79,425 15,130 101,050
Accumulated amortisation (6,495) (49,182) (15,108) (70,785)

    

Net book amount — 30,243 22 30,265
    

Year ended 31 December 2023
Opening net book amount — 30,243 22 30,265
Additions — 5,680 — 5,680
Amortisation — (21,284) (9) (21,293)
Exchange differences — 33 — 33

    

Closing net book amount — 14,672 13 14,685
    

At 31 December 2023
Cost — 63,144 15,130 78,274
Accumulated amortisation — (48,472) (15,117) (63,589)

    

Net book amount — 14,672 13 14,685
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Accounting policies of other intangible assets

Contractual customer relationships

Contractual customer relationships acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair 
values at the acquisition date. The contractual customer relationships have a finite useful life 
and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated on straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives (5–10 years).

Trademarks and licensing rights

Separately acquired trademarks and licensing rights are shown at historical cost. Trademarks 
and licensing rights acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair values at the 
acquisition date. Trademarks and licensing rights have a finite useful life and are carried at 
cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over their 
estimated useful lives (2–10 years).

20. DEFERRED INCOME TAXATION

At the end of the reporting period, components of the deferred income tax assets and liabilities 
of the Group provided are as follows:

Assets Liabilities
2023 2022 2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Depreciation allowances — 756 — —
Net revaluation surplus on 

investment properties — — (6,212) (6,365)
Right-of-use assets — — (12,318) (13,050)
Lease liabilities 13,253 13,732 — —
Tax loss 980 1,754 — —
Others 4,935 4,675 (15,241) —

    

Deferred income tax assets/ 
(liabilities), gross 19,168 20,917 (33,771) (19,415)

Set-off deferred tax (liabilities)/
assets (12,318) (13,050) 12,318 13,050

    

Deferred income tax assets/ 
(liabilities), net 6,850 7,867 (21,453) (6,365)
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The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year is as follows:

Assets Liabilities  

Deferred income tax 
assets/(liabilities)

Depreciation 
allowances

Lease 
liabilities Tax loss Others Sub total

Net 
revaluation 
surplus on 
investment 
properties

Right- 
of-use 
assets

Gain on 
disposal of 

property, 
plant and 

equipment Others Sub total Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2022 861 8,327 — 3,806 12,994 (6,324) (7,830) — — (14,154) (1,160)
Additions of right-of-

use assets and lease 
liabilities — 9,907 — — 9,907 — (9,907) — — (9,907) —

(Charged)/credit to the 
consolidated statement 
of profit or loss (105) (4,483) 1,754 869 (1,965) (223) 4,687 — — 4,464 2,499

Exchange differences — (19) — — (19) 182 — — — 182 163           

At 31 December 2022 756 13,732 1,754 4,675 20,917 (6,365) (13,050) — — (19,415) 1,502
Set-off deferred tax 

(liabilities)/assets — (13,050) — — (13,050) — 13,050 — — 13,050 —           

At 31 December 2022, net 756 682 1,754 4,675 7,867 (6,365) — — — (6,365) 1,502           

At 1 January 2023 756 13,732 1,754 4,675 20,917 (6,365) (13,050) — — (19,415) 1,502
Addition of right-of-

use assets and lease 
liabilities — 43 — — 43 — (43) — — (43) —

(Charged)/credit to the 
consolidated  
statement of profit or 
loss (756) (513) (774) 31 (2,012) 51 775 (14,587) (654) (14,415) (16,427)

Exchange differences — (9) — 229 220 102 — — – 102 322           

At 31 December 2023 — 13,253 980 4,935 19,168 (6,212) (12,318) (14,587) (654) (33,771) (14,603)
Set-off deferred tax 

(liabilities)/assets — (12,318) — — (12,318) — 12,318 — — 12,318 —           

At 31 December 2023, net — 935 980 4,935 6,850 (6,212) — (14,587) (654) (21,453) (14,603)           

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses 
of HK$256,859,000 (2022: HK$161,403,000) as it is not probable that future taxable profits 
against which the losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and 
entity. These tax losses have no expiry date except HK$219,306,000 (2022: HK$124,115,000 
which will expire in 5 years to 20 years (2022: 5 years to 20 years).
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Accounting policies of deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences 
arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the 
consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they 
arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if 
it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business 
combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or 
loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary difference. Deferred 
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially 
enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related 
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

The deferred tax liability in relation to investment property that is measured at fair value is 
determined assuming the property will be recovered entirely through sale.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be 
available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the 
carrying amount and tax bases of investments in foreign operations where the Company is able 
to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the 
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset 
current tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same 
taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally 
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously.
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21. INVENTORIES

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Raw materials 124,202 155,682
Work-in-progress 20,099 25,481
Finished goods 7,615 26,247
Trading stocks 221,736 316,236

  

373,652 523,646
  

The cost of inventories mainly includes cost of materials and trading stocks, employee benefit 
expense, depreciation of property, plant and equipment, amortisation of other intangible 
assets, and licences fees recognised as expense and included in cost of sales amounted to 
HK$942,630,000 (2022: HK$1,237,128,000).

Provision for inventories of HK$3,716,000 has been recognised to cost of sales (2022: 
HK$6,861,000).

The gross amount of inventories carried at net realisable value amounted to approximately 
HK$36,827,000 (2022: HK$38,857,000) as at 31 December 2023. Full provision has been made 
with regards to these balances.

Accounting policies of inventories

Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods are stated at the lower of cost and net 
reliable value. Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory on the basis of weighted 
average costs. Costs of purchased inventory are determined after deducting rebates and 
discount. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business 
less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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22. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED 
COST

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 339,151 449,289
Less: provision for impairment losses (17,752) (14,002)

  

Trade receivables, net 321,399 435,287
Other financial assets at amortised cost 10,188 8,919

  

331,587 444,206
Less: non-current portion of other financial assets at  

amortised cost (2,012) (2,109)
  

Current portion 329,575 442,097
  

The carrying amounts approximate their fair values.

(a) The majority of the Group’s sales are with credit terms of 30–180 days. The ageing 
analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date is as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

0 – 30 days 122,466 127,622
31 – 60 days 96,349 122,207
61 – 90 days 53,259 85,906
91 – 120 days 19,328 48,464
121 – 180 days 17,261 46,831
Over 180 days 30,488 18,259

  

339,151 449,289
  

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold in the ordinary course 
of business. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30–180 days and 
therefore are all classified as current.

Accounting policies of trade receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is 
unconditional unless they contain significant financing components, when they are 
recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with the objective to 
collect the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method less provision for impairment.
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(b) Impairment and risk exposure

Trade receivables

When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for 
trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited 
against “net impairment losses on financial assets” in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss.

The movement in provision for impairment loss of trade receivables during the year is as 
follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 14,002 11,196
Net provision for impairment loss for the year 3,750 2,806

  

At 31 December 17,752 14,002
  

The Group does not hold any collateral over the impaired receivables.

Accounting policies of impairment on trade receivables

The Group applies HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure expected credit loss which 
uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. To measure the expected 
credit loss, trade receivables relating to customers with known financial difficulties or 
significant doubt on collection of receivables are assessed individually for provision for 
impairment allowance, the remaining trade receivables have been grouped based on 
shared credit risk characteristics. Future cash flows for each group of receivables are 
estimated on the basis of historical loss experience, adjusted to reflect the effects of 
current conditions as well as forward-looking information.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, based on management’s assessment, 
the Group recorded impairment loss for trade receivables of HK$3,750,000 (2022: 
HK$2,806,000) in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

As at 31 December 2023, the impact of expected loss is immaterial to the Group (2022: 
same).

As at 31 December 2022, the receivables from an investment accounted for using equity 
method of HK$3,190,000 is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. 
This amount was included in other financial assets at amortised cost. The amount was fully 
settled during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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23. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Investment in an insurance contract 6,881 —
  

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has an investment in life insurance 
contract with the initial payment of HK$10,708,000, and cash surrender value of HK$6,881,000 
as at 31 December 2023. The loss on investment in an insurance contract of HK$3,827,000 
has been recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 
December 2023.

Accounting policies of other non-current assets

The insurance contract of the Group includes both investment and insurance elements. The 
investment in an insurance contract is initially recognised at the amount of the premium paid 
and subsequently carried at the amount that could be realised under the corresponding 
insurance contract (“cash surrender value”) at the end of each reporting period, with changes 
in value being recognised in profit or loss.

24. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Other prepayments 14,504 15,055
Prepayments to suppliers 9,576 8,700

  

24,080 23,755
  

25. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s financial assets at FVPL represent investment in listed 
securities and unlisted investments (2022: listed securities, unlisted investments, unlisted 
convertible loan and wealth management products). The investments in listed securities and 
unlisted equity investment in the British Virgin Islands, the PRC and Hong Kong are mandatorily 
measured at FVPL, while the Group does not elect to classify the unlisted investments in 
the USA as financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”). The 
financial assets measured at FVPL are with the following details:
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2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 62,902 46,198
Additions 6,136 26,798
Fair value losses on revaluation recognised in consolidated 

statement of profit or loss (5,521) (10,094)
Disposal of investments in wealth management products (17,065) —

  

46,452 62,902
  

Non-current
Unlisted investment in the USA 10,262 10,615
Unlisted investment in the British Virgin Islands 17,815 21,634
Unlisted investment in the PRC 12,483 8,156
Unlisted investment in Hong Kong 1,673 972

  

42,233 41,377
  

Current
Listed securities in Hong Kong 4,219 4,460
Investments in wealth management products — 17,065

  

4,219 21,525
  

46,452 62,902
  

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets at FVPL are denominated in the following 
currencies:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

US$ 29,750 33,221
HK$ 4,219 4,460
RMB 12,483 25,221

  

46,452 62,902
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26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash at bank and on hand 317,849 246,949
Time deposits with original maturity date over 3 months 8,955 –

  

326,804 246,949
  

Funds of the Group amounting HK$63,935,000 (2022: HK$55,509,000) and HK$18,759,000 
(2022: HK$12,375,000) are kept in the bank accounts opened with banks in the PRC and 
Bangladesh, respectively, where the remittance of funds is subject to foreign exchange control.
As of December 2023, HK$98,962,000 (2022: nil) restricted cash were held by a property 
exchange company for replacement of property.
 

27. SHARE CAPITAL

Note

Number of 
shares of 

HK$0.10 each HK$’000

Authorised:  
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022,  

1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023  1,000,000,000 100,000
  

Issued and fully paid:  
At 1 January 2022  405,323,284 40,532
Bonus shares issued (a) 20,266,164 2,027
Share options scheme:
– Exercise of share option (note 29) 1,012,000 101

  

At 31 December 2022 426,601,448 42,660
Share options scheme:
– Exercise of share option (note 29) 2,563,000 256

  

At 31 December 2023 429,164,448 42,916
  

Note:

(a) Pursuant to a resolution approving the allotment and issue of one bonus share for every twenty existing 
shares held passed by the shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting of the Company 
held on 26 May 2022, a total of 20,266,164 shares of HK$0.1 each were issued and allotted, credited as 
fully paid by way of capitalisation of share premium. These newly issued shares rank pari passu with the 
existing shares.
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28. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

2023 2022
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

Current portion
Exchange rate forward contracts — — — 2,314

    

— — — 2,314
    

Accounting policies on derivatives financial instruments

The full fair value of the hedging derivatives are classified as current assets or liabilities if the 
remaining maturity of hedging relationships are less than 12 months, and as non-current if the 
remaining maturity of those relationships are more than 12 months.

Hedge ineffectiveness

Hedge effectiveness is determined at the inception of the hedge relationship, and through 
periodic prospective effectiveness assessments to ensure that an economic relationship exists 
between the hedged item and hedging instrument.

For hedges of foreign currency purchases, the Group enters into hedge relationships where 
the critical terms of the hedging instrument match exactly with the terms of the hedged 
item. The Group therefore performs a qualitative assessment of effectiveness. If changes in 
circumstances affect the terms of the hedged item such that the critical terms no longer match 
exactly with the critical terms of the hedging instrument, the Group uses the hypothetical 
derivative method to assess effectiveness.

In hedges of foreign currency purchases, ineffectiveness may arise if the timing of the forecast 
transaction changes from what was originally estimated, or if there are changes in the credit 
risk or the derivative counterparty.

Hedge ineffectiveness in relation to the exchange rate forward contracts was negligible for 
2022.
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Hedging reserve

Cash flow hedge reserve
Exchange 

rate forward 
contracts Total

HK$ HK$

At 1 January 2023 2,314 2,314
Change in fair value of hedging instruments recognised in 

other comprehensive income (2,314) (2,314)
  

At 31 December 2023 — —
  

The hedging reserve includes the cash flow hedge reserve. The cash flow hedge reserve is 
used to recognise the effective portion of gains or losses on derivative financial instruments 
that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges, as described in Note 41(n).

29. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

On 29 December 2011, a share option scheme (the “2011 Share Option Scheme”), and on 
26 May 2022, another share option scheme (the “2022 Share Option Scheme”) were adopted 
whereby the Board of Directors, may, at their absolute discretion, grant options to any eligible 
employee, including directors of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any investee entity, 
any suppliers of goods or services to any member of the Group or any investee entity, or any 
customer of the Group or any investee entity to subscribe for shares in the Company.

On 15 July 2015 and 13 April 2017, a total of 11,900,000 and 20,370,000 share options under 
the 2011 Share Option Scheme were granted to certain directors and employees of the Group, 
respectively. The share option period shall be ten years from the date of grant and the share 
option shall lapse at the expiry of the option period. 20% of the options shall vest on the first to 
fifth anniversary dates of the date of grant each year. On 28 December 2021, the 2011 Share 
Option Scheme was expired.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted 
under the 2022 Share Option Scheme may not in aggregate exceed 40,535,328, being 10% of 
the shares in issue of the Company as at 26 May 2022, the date of adoption of the 2022 Share 
Option Scheme. As at 31 December 2023, no share option was granted under the 2022 Share 
Option Scheme.

The exercise price of the options is the highest of the nominal value of the shares, the closing 
price of the shares on the Stock Exchange on the date of offer of the options and the average 
closing price of the shares on the Stock Exchange for the five trading days immediately 
preceding the date of offer of the options.
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Movements in 2011 Share Option Scheme

2023 2022

Number 
of share 
options

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price

Number 
of share 
options

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price
HK$ HK$

At 1 January 30,908,000 1.325 30,400,000 1.384
Adjustments on bonus shares 

issued — — 1,520,000 —
Exercised (2,563,000) 1.214 (1,012,000) 1.080

    

At 31 December 28,345,000 1.335 30,908,000 1.325
    

Options vested at  
31 December 28,345,000 1.335 30,908,000 1.325

    

At the end of the reporting period, the options have a weighted average contractual terms of 
2.7 years (2022: 3.7 years).

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the following expiry dates and exercise 
prices:

Number of share options

Expiry date
Exercise 

price 2023 2022
HK$ ’000 ’000

14 July 2025 1.066 9,005 10,606
12 April 2027 1.460 19,340 20,302

  

28,345 30,908
  

Weighted average exercise prices have been adjusted for bonus issued in June 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, 2,563,000 share options were exercised (2022: 
1,012,000 share option were exercised). As at 31 December 2023, out of the total 28,345,000 
(2022: 30,908,000) outstanding options, 28,345,000 options (2022: 30,908,000) are 
exercisable.

Under the share option schemes, no (2022: HK$92,000) share-based payment expense has 
been included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for 2023 and a corresponding 
amount has been credited to share based compensation reserve.
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30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables 169,544 233,579
Accrued charges and other payables 169,806 283,794

  

339,350 517,373
Less: other non-current payables (6,595) (18,140)

  

Current portion 332,755 499,233
  

The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables based on invoice date is as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

0 – 30 days 76,350 120,896
31 – 60 days 26,702 30,694
61 – 90 days 14,375 6,839
Over 90 days 52,117 75,150

  

169,544 233,579
  

Contract liabilities of HK$1,031,000 (2022: HK$1,133,000) are recognised when a customer 
pays consideration, or is contractually required to pay consideration and the amounts are 
already due, before the Group recognised the related revenue. The Group expects to deliver 
the goods to satisfy the remaining performance obligation of these contract liabilities within one 
year or less.

Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 December 2023 that was included in the 
contract liability at the beginning of the year amounted to HK$1,133,000 (2022: HK$1,238,000).

As at 31 December 2022, the payable to an investment accounted for using equity method of 
HK$1,519,000 is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. This amount was 
included in the accrued charges and other payables.

31. AMOUNT DUE TO A NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST

The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.
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32. BORROWINGS

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current:
Bank borrowings 108,965 209,243
Other borrowings 44,541 19,644

  

153,506 228,887
Non-current:
Other borrowings 7,197 14,393

  

160,703 243,280
  

As at 31 December 2023, bank borrowings of HK$108,965,000 (2022: HK$209,243,000), were 
guaranteed by the Company and subsidiaries of the Company.

As at 31 December 2023, no bank borrowing was secured by total assets of a subsidiary of 
the Company (2022: bank borrowings of HK$42,943,000 were secured by total asset of a 
subsidiary of the Company amounted to HK$300,895,000).

The bank borrowings would mature from 1 to 5 years with demand clause (2022: same). The 
weighted average effective interest rate per annum for borrowings was 6.26% (2022: 5.35%). 
The carrying amounts of the borrowings approximate their fair values.

Other borrowings represent borrowing from an affiliated company of New Era Cap Hong 
Kong LLC (“NEHK”), a shareholder of the Company, in which US$4,800,000 (HK$37,344,000) 
were borrowed on 4 August 2023, 6 October 2023 and 1 December 2023 respectively. The 
borrowings is unsecured, interest bearing at 8% per annum and mature in 1 year, while 
US$1,850,000 (HK$14,393,000) was borrowed on 14 January 2022 which is unsecured, interest 
bearing at 7% per annum, half of which repayable by 19 December 2024 and the remaining by 
19 December 2025.

The Group has complied with the financial covenants of its borrowing facilities during the 2023 
and 2022 reporting period, see note 3(c).
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33. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(a) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to net cash generated from operations

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before income tax 177,177 250,861
Finance income (2,103) (574)
Finance costs 15,280 13,648
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (53,897) —
Loss on investment in an insurance contract 3,827 —
Gain on lease modification — (480)
Fair value losses on financial assets  

at fair value through profit or loss 5,521 10,094
Fair value losses/(gains) on investment properties 205 (1,176)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 51,243 44,368
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 13,974 19,683
Amortisation of other intangible assets 21,293 26,201
Net provision for inventories 3,716 6,861
Share-based payment expenses — 92
Net impairment losses on financial assets 3,750 2,806
Impairment of goodwill — 22,511
Net foreign exchange gain (621) (7,760)
Share of (profit)/loss from an investment accounted  

for using equity method (150) 124
Changes in working capital:

Inventories 146,278 (78,603)
Trade receivables and other financial assets at 

amortised cost 108,985 (76,265)
Other current assets (325) 8,534
Trade and other payables (93,780) 39,220

  

Cash generated from operations 400,373 280,145
  

(b) In the consolidated cash flow statement, proceeds from disposal of property, plant 
and equipment comprise:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Net book amount (note 15) 44,990 —
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 53,897 —

  

Proceeds from disposal of property,  
plant and equipment 98,887 —
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(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

This section sets out the movement in liabilities arising from financing activities:

Borrowings
Lease 

liabilities
Dividend 
payables Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 1 January 2022 275,384 42,366 — 317,750
Additions of lease (note 35) — 49,358 — 49,358
Dividend declared and approved — — 37,106 37,106
Cash flows

– principal (32,104) (16,627) (37,106) (85,837)
– interest expenses — (1,633) — (1,633)

Lease modification — (4,853) — (4,853)
Exchange difference — (1,124) — (1,124)

    

As at 31 December 2022 243,280 67,487 — 310,767
    

As at 1 January 2023 243,280 67,487 — 310,767
Additions of lease (note 35) — 246 — 246
Dividend declared and approved — — 38,576 38,576
Cash flows

– principal (82,577) (11,035) (38,576) (132,188)
– interest expenses — (1,663) — (1,663)

Lease modification — — — —
Exchange difference — (265) — (265)

    

As at 31 December 2023 160,703 54,770 — 215,473
    

34. COMMITMENTS

(a) Capital commitment

Capital expenditure contracted for but not yet incurred as at the end of the reporting 
period is as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Contracted but not provided for 3,867 10,536
  

The above commitment represents capital expenditure commitment relating to extension 
of warehouse and upgrade in IT system.
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(b) Other commitment 

On 15 December 2021, the Group executed a capital contribution agreement in relation 
to a contribution of RMB30 million (approximately HK$36.6 million) to a limited partnership 
established in the PRC (the “Fund”). The contribution by the Group represents about 
3.05% of the targeted contribution of the Fund. A partnership agreement was signed for 
the purpose of the establishment of the partnership on 28 January 2022. During the year 
ended 31 December 2023, a capital contribution of RMB4.6 million (approximately HK$5.1 
million) (2022: RMB7.5 million (approximately HK$8.6 million)) was made. As a result, the 
Group has a commitment of RMB17.9 million (approximately HK$19.7 million) as at 31 
December 2023.

On 14 March 2022, the Group executed a capital contribution agreement in relation to 
a contribution of US$0.5 million (approximately HK$3.9 million) to a limited partnership 
established in Hong Kong (the “Hong Kong Fund”). The contribution by the Group 
represents about 2% of the targeted contribution of the Hong Kong Fund. During the year 
ended 31 December 2023, a capital contribution of US$0.1 million (approximately HK$0.8 
million) (2022: US$0.2 million (approximately HK$1.6 million)) was made. As a result, 
the Group has a commitment of US$0.2 million (approximately HK$1.6 million) as at 31 
December 2023.

35. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet

The consolidated balance sheet shows the following amounts relating to leases in respect 
of properties and a motor vehicle:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Right-of-use assets
Properties 50,467 64,326
Motor vehicle — 95

  

50,467 64,421
  

Lease liabilities
Non-current 41,175 54,741
Current 13,595 12,746

  

54,770 67,487
  

No lease liabilities as at 31 December 2023 (2022: HK$17,000) of the Group was secured 
by a legal charge on a motor vehicle of the Group recognised as right-of-use assets with 
no carrying amount (2022: HK$95,000).

Additions of right-of-use assets during the year ended 31 December 2023 were 
HK$246,000 (2022: HK$49,358,000).
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(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

The consolidated statement of profit or loss shows the following amounts relating to leases 
in respect of properties and a motor vehicle:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets
– Properties 13,879 19,492
– Motor vehicle 95 191

  

13,974 19,683
  

Interest expenses (included in finance costs) 1,663 1,633
Expenses relating to short-term leases 6,432 2,661

  

Depreciation expenses have been charged as below:
Cost of sales 2,187 7,758
Selling and distribution costs 2,588 2,884
Administration expenses 9,199 9,041

  

13,974 19,683
  

The total cash outflow for leases during the year ended 31 December 2023 is 
HK$20,699,000 (2022: HK$20,921,000).

(c) The Group’s lease activities and how these are accounted for

The Group leases various properties and a motor vehicle. Rental contracts are typically 
made for 2 to 20 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a 
wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any 
covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor.
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Accounting policies of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that 
rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Group, 
the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee 
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to 
the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security and 
conditions. To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group, where possible, uses 
recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted 
to reflect changes in financing conditions since third party financing was received and 
makes any adjustments specific to the lease, for example, term, country, currency and 
security.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life 
and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise 
a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful 
life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of premises and all leases of low-value assets 
are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less without a 
purchase option.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor is recognised in income 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

See Note 41(y) for the other accounting policies relevant to leases.
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36. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The ultimate holding company of the Company is Successful Years International Company 
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. The ultimate controlling party of 
the Group is Mr. Ngan Hei Keung and Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP.

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, 
the Group entered into the following significant related party transactions.

(a) Sale and purchase of goods and services

2023 2022
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Sales of goods to affiliated companies of  
a shareholder (i) 598,728 761,903

Rent paid in respect of office premise to 
directors (ii) 202 202

Claim charges paid to affiliated companies of  
a shareholder (iii) 2,949 7,665

Interest on borrowings from an affiliated  
company of a shareholder (iv) 2,567 2,357

  

(i) Sales of goods to affiliated companies of a shareholder were transacted pursuant to the terms and 
conditions set out in the manufacturing agreement entered into by the Company and NEHK on 22 
November 2019. These transactions are continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 
14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the applicable requirements in accordance 
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules as detailed in the section headed “Connected Transactions and 
Continuing Connected Transactions” in the Report of the Directors in respect of these transactions.

(ii) Rent paid in respect of office premise to directors was charged at a fixed monthly fee mutually 
agreed between the two parties as set out in the tenancy agreements entered into by the Company, 
and the directors on 1 April 2022. These transactions are connected transactions as defined in 
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. 

 Pursuant to the adoption of HKFRS 16, these transactions are one-off connected transactions as 
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Group recognised right-of-use assets and lease 
liabilities of HK$582,000 in relation to the leased office premises. The carrying amount of the right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities as at 31 December 2023 are HK$243,000 and HK$248,000 
(2022: HK$437,000 and HK$441,000), respectively. The Company has complied with the applicable 
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules as detailed in the section headed 
“Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions” in the Report of the Directors in 
respect of these transactions.

(iii) Claim charges were paid to affiliated companies of a shareholder at a fee mutually agreed between 
two parties.

(iv) Interest expenses on borrowings were paid to affiliated companies of a shareholder at 7%–8% per 
annum (note 32).
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(b) Year-end balances arising from sale of goods and services

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables from affiliated companies of a 
shareholder 144,585 265,885

  

Trade receivables from affiliated companies of a shareholder arise mainly from 
sale transactions and are due 60–90 days after the date of sales. The receivables 
are unsecured in nature and bear no interest. No provisions are held against such 
receivables.

(c) Year-end balances arising from borrowing

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Borrowings from an affiliated company of a  
shareholder (note 32) 51,737 34,037

  

(d) Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for the Group’s key management personnel, including amounts paid to the 
Company’s directors as disclosed in note 39 and certain of the highest paid employees as 
disclosed in note 10, is as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Short-term employee benefits 41,100 56,790
Retirement scheme contributions 133 162

  

41,233 56,952
  

37. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had no contingent liabilities.
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38. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE OF THE COMPANY

2023 2022
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Interests in subsidiaries 962,998 893,465
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 19,488 22,606

  

982,486 916,071
  

Current assets
Other current assets 171 —
Cash and cash equivalents 19,841 29,351

  

20,012 29,351
  

Total assets 1,002,498 945,422
  

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital 42,916 42,660
Other reserves (a) 278,687 275,832
Retained earnings (a) 677,162 623,221

  

998,765 941,713
  

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 3,733 3,709

  

3,733 3,709
  

Total equity and liabilities 1,002,498 945,422
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Note (a) Reserve movement of the Company

Share 

premium

Contributed 

surplus

Share based 

compensation 

reserve

Retained 

earnings Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2022 167,016 99,431 10,328 525,457 802,232

Profit for the year — — — 134,870 134,870

2021 final dividend paid — — — (16,213) (16,213)

2021 special dividend paid — — — (8,106) (8,106)

2022 interim dividend paid — — — (12,787) (12,787)

Bonus shares issued (2,027) — — — (2,027)

Share option scheme:

– Value of services provided — — 92 — 92

– Share options exercised 1,128 — (136) — 992
     

At 31 December 2022 166,117 99,431 10,284 623,221 899,053
     

At 1 January 2023 166,117 99,431 10,284 623,221 899,053

Profit for the year — — — 92,517 92,517

2022 final dividend paid — — — (25,702) (25,702)

2023 interim dividend paid — — — (12,874) (12,874)

Share option scheme:

– Share options exercised 3,489 — (634) — 2,855
     

At 31 December 2023 169,606 99,431 9,650 677,162 955,849
     

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference between the combined net asset value of the 

subsidiaries acquired over the nominal value of the share capital of the Company issued in exchange therefor 

pursuant to a Group reorganisation in 2000.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, contributed surplus is available for distribution to shareholders. 

However, a company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus, if:

(i) the company is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(ii) the realisable value of the company’s assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and 

its issued share capital and share premium accounts.
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39. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES REQUIRED 
BY SECTION 383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP. 
622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF 
DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING RULES)

(a) Directors’ emoluments

The remunerations of each director for the year are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director, 

whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking 

Year ended 31 December 2023

Fees Salaries

Discretionary 

bonus

Housing 

allowances

Estimated 

monetary 

value of other 

benefits

(Note (a))

Employer’s 

contributions 

to a retirement 

benefit scheme Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Mr. Ngan Hei Keung 120 2,470 3,000 — — 18 5,608

Madam Ngan Po Ling, 
Pauline, BBS, JP 
(Managing Director) 120 1,820 3,000 1,440 — 18 6,398

Mr. James S. Patterson 120 — 311 — — — 431

Mr. Ngan Siu Hon, 
Alexander 120 1,610 — 1,068 — 7 2,805

Mr. Lai Man Sing 120 1,690 — — — 18 1,828

*Mr. Leung Shu Yin, William 120 — — — — — 120

*Mr. Liu Tieh Ching,  
Brandon, JP 120 — — — — — 120

Mr. Gordon Ng 180 — — — — — 180

** Mr. Cheung Tei Sing, 
Jamie 60 — — — — — 60

** Mr. Li Yinquan 60 — — — — — 60       

Total 1,140 7,590 6,311 2,508 — 61 17,610       

* Resigned on 1 September 2023

** Appointed on 1 September 2023
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director, 
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking 

Year ended 31 December 2022

Fees Salaries
Discretionary 

bonus
Housing 

allowances

Estimated 
monetary 

value of other 
benefits

(Note (a))

Employer’s 
contributions 

to a retirement 
benefit scheme Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Mr. Ngan Hei Keung 120 2,430 5,000 — 10 18 7,578
Madam Ngan Po Ling, 

Pauline, BBS, JP 
(Managing Director) 120 1,810 5,000 1,440 14 18 8,402

Mr. James S. Patterson 120 — 311 — 5 — 436
Mr. Ngan Siu Hon, 

Alexander 120 1,440 — 979 5 18 2,562
Mr. Lai Man Sing 120 1,879 150 — 5 11 2,165
Mr. Leung Shu Yin, William 165 — — — — — 165
Mr. Liu Tieh Ching,  

Brandon, JP 165 — — — — — 165
Mr. Gordon Ng 165 — — — — — 165       

Total 1,095 7,559 10,461 2,419 39 65 21,638       

Note (a): Other benefits include leave pay, share option and insurance premium.

No director waived any emoluments in respect of the years ended 31 December 2023 and 
2022.

(b) Directors’ retirement benefits and termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement benefits or termination 
benefits during the year (2022: Nil).

(c) Consideration provided to third parties for making available directors’ services

The Group did not pay consideration to any third parties for making available directors’ 
services during the year (2022: Nil).
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(d) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors, 
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with such directors

No loans, quasi-loans and other dealing were made available in favour of the directors, 
controlled body corporates and connected entities of such directors at the end of the year 
or at any time during the year (2022: Nil).

(e) Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts

During the year, the Group entered into business transactions with related parties in the 
normal course of business. Details of the transactions are disclosed in note 36 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

Other than the above, no significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation 
to the Group’s business to which the Company was a party and in which a director of the 
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the 
year or at any time during the year.

40. EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 4 January 2024, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, entered into an agreement in 
relation to the acquisition of the property located in Missouri, the USA for a consideration of 
US$13.5 million (equivalent to approximately HK$105 million).

41. SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The other potentially material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these 
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently 
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
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(a) Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

(i) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls 
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its 
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the 
date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the 
date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations 
by the Group.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between 
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the 
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting 
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency 
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown 
separately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and 
consolidated balance sheet respectively.

(ii) Joint arrangement

Under HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements investments in joint arrangements are classified 
as either joint operations or joint ventures. The classification depends on the 
contractual rights and obligations of each investor, rather than the legal structure of 
the joint arrangement.

Interest in a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method (see (iii) below), 
after initially being recognised at cost in the consolidated balance sheet.

(iii) Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the investment is initially recognised at 
cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition 
profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s share of movements 
in other comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive income. 
Dividends received or receivable from a joint venture is recognised as a reduction in 
the carrying amount of the investment.
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Where the Group’s share of loss in an equity-accounted investment equals 
or exceeds its interest in the entity, including any other unsecured long-term 
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred 
obligations or made payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and joint ventures are 
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in these entities. Unrealised losses 
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of 
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity-accounted investees have been 
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the 
Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for impairment in 
accordance with the policy described in note 41(i).

(iv) Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss 
of control as transactions with equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership 
interest results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of the controlling 
and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any 
difference between the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and 
any consideration paid or received is recognised in separate reserve within equity 
attributable to owners of the Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account for an investment because 
of a loss of control or joint control, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured 
to its fair value with the change in carrying amount recognised in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss. This fair value becomes the initial carrying amount 
for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as a joint 
venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group 
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or 
loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable 
HKFRSs.

If the ownership interest in joint venture is reduced but joint control is retained, only 
a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income are reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
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(b) Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, 
regardless of whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration 
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

• fair values of the assets transferred
• liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business
• equity interests issued by the Group
• fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, 

and
• fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the 
acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity 
on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s 
proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. The excess of the

• consideration transferred,
• amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity, and
• acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those 
amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the business acquired, 
the difference is recognised directly in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as a 
bargain purchase.

Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts 
classified as a financial liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in 
fair value recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of 
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at 
the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are recognised 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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(c) Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost includes 
direct attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by 
the Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable. Impairment testing of the 
investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving dividends from these investments if 
the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the 
dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial 
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the 
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

(d) Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting 
provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, 
who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating 
segments, has been identified as the executive directors that make strategic decisions.

(e) Foreign currencies translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are 
measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the 
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in HK$, which is the Company’s functional and the Group’s presentation 
currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using 
the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and 
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation 
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year end 
exchange rates are generally recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss on a net basis within “other gains/(losses) — net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. 
Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair values are reported 
as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation differences on non-
monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at FVPL are recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and 
translation differences on nonmonetary asset such as equity classified as financial 
asset at FVOCI are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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(iii) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the 
currency of a hyper-inflationary economy) that have a functional currency different 
from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as 
follows:

(a) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the 
closing rate at the date of that balance sheet;

(b) income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss are translated at 
average exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable approximation of the 
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which 
case income and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the 
transactions); and

(c) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive 
income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net 
investment in foreign entities, are recognised in other comprehensive income. When 
a foreign operation is sold, the associated exchange differences are reclassified to 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation 
are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the 
closing rate.

(iv) Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the Group’s entire 
interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary 
that includes a foreign operation), all of the currency translation differences 
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the 
Company are reclassified to consolidated statement of profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result in the Group losing control over a 
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the proportionate share of accumulated 
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not 
recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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(f) Property, plant and equipment

Except for freehold land with indefinite useful life, all other property, plant and equipment 
are stated at historical cost less depreciation. Freehold land with indefinite useful life is 
stated at historical cost less accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate 
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated 
with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The 
carrying amount of any component accounted for as separate asset is derecognised when 
replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the 
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (note 41(i)).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with 
the carrying amount and are recognised within “other gains/(losses) — net” in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment under construction 
or pending installation, and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Cost 
comprises direct costs of construction including borrowing costs attributable to the 
construction during the period of construction. No provision for depreciation is made on 
construction in progress until such time as the relevant assets are completed and ready 
for intended use.
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(g) Investment properties

Investment properties, principally land and buildings, are held for long-term rental 
yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that are not occupied by the Group. Land 
held under operating leases are accounted for as investment properties when the rest 
of the definition of an investment property is met. In such cases, the operating leases 
concerned are accounted for as if they were finance leases. Investment property is initially 
measured at cost, including related transaction costs and where applicable borrowing 
costs, they are carried at fair values, representing open market value determined at each 
reporting date by external valuers. Fair value is based on active market prices, adjusted, 
if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or condition of the specific asset. 
If the information is not available, the Group uses alternative valuation methods such as 
recent prices on less active markets or discounted cash flow projections. Changes in fair 
values are recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as part of a valuation 
gain or loss in “other gains/(losses) — net”.

(h) Intangible assets

(i) Goodwill

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill is 
not amortised but it is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried at cost 
less accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity 
include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units (“CGUs”) for the purpose of 
impairment testing. The allocation is made to those CGUs or groups of CGUs that 
are expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose. 
The units or groups of units are identified at the lowest level at which goodwill is 
monitored for internal management purposes, being the operating segments.
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(i) Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill not subject to amortisation is tested annually for impairment, or more frequently 
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Assets that 
are subject to amortisation are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment 
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less 
costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are 
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows which 
are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (CGUs). 
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for 
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

(j) Financial assets and liabilities

(i) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

— those to be measured subsequently at fair values (either through other 
comprehensive income or profit or loss), and

— those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial 
assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair values, gains and losses will either be recorded in the 
profit or loss or other comprehensive income. For investments in equity instruments 
that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the Group has made 
an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity 
investment at FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for 
managing those assets changes.

(ii) Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, 
the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets 
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets 
have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership.
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(iii) Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the 
case of a financial asset not at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial asset carried at 
FVPL are expensed in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when 
determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business 
model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There 
are three measurement categories to classify the debt instruments:

(1) Amortised cost

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those 
cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured 
at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets is included in 
finance income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising 
on derecognition is recognised directly in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss. Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss.

(2) Fair value through other comprehensive income

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling 
the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments 
of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying 
amount are taken through other comprehensive income, except for the 
recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange 
gains and losses which are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from 
equity to profit or loss. Interest income from these financial assets is included in 
finance income using the effective interest rate method. Impairment expenses 
are presented as separate line item in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss.

(3) Fair value through profit or loss

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured 
at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at 
FVPL is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period 
in which it arises.
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Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair values. Where the 
Group’s management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity 
investments in other comprehensive income, there is no subsequent reclassification 
of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the 
investment. Dividends from such investments continue to be recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive payments is 
established.

Changes in the fair value of financial asset at FVPL are recognised in “other 
gains/(losses) — net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as applicable. 
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments 
measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from other changes in fair value.

(iv) Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses 
associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The impairment 
methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by 
HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial 
recognition of the receivables.

(k) Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the 
consolidated balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the 
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be contingent 
on future events and must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the 
event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company or the counterparty.

(l) Inventories

Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of variable 
and fixed overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated on the basis of normal 
operating capacity.
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(m) Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed 
in the ordinary course of business. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement 
within 30–180 days and therefore are all classified as current.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is 
unconditional unless they contain significant financing components, when they are 
recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with the objective to 
collect the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method less provision for impairment.

When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for 
trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited 
against “net impairment losses on financial assets” in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss.

(n) Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as exchange rate forward contracts 
to hedge its exposure to currency risks arising from investment activities. In accordance 
with its treasury policy, the Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments 
for trading purpose. 

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered 
into and are subsequently re-measured at their fair value. The method of recognising 
the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging 
instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. The Group designates certain 
derivatives as hedges of a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or 
a highly probable forecast transaction (cash flow hedge).

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between the 
hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management objective and 
strategies for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Group also documents its 
assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives 
designated as hedging instruments are highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows 
of the hedged items. 

The carrying amount of the hedging derivatives are classified as current assets or 
liabilities if the remaining maturity of hedging relationships are less than 12 months, and 
as non-current if the remaining maturity of those relationships are more than 12 months.
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(i) Forward contracts

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated 
and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in cash flow hedge reserve within 
equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss within gains/other (losses) — net.

When forward contracts are used to hedge forecast transactions, the Group generally 
designates only the change in fair value of the forward contract related to the spot 
component as the hedging instrument. Gains or losses relating to the effective 
portion of the change in the spot component of the forward contracts are recognised 
in the cash flow hedge reserve within equity. The change in the forward element of 
the contract that relates to the hedged item (‘aligned forward element’) is recognised 
within other comprehensive income in the costs of hedging reserve within equity. In 
some cases, the Group may designate the full change in fair value of the forward 
contract (including forward points) as the hedging instrument. In such cases, the 
gains or losses relating to the effective portion of the change in fair value of the entire 
forward contract are recognised in the cash flow hedge reserve within equity.

(o) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and 
cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, 
other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or 
less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in 
current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet.

(p) Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity (note 27). Incremental costs directly attributable 
to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from 
the proceeds.

(q) Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in 
the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current 
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the 
business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair values and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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(r) Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. 
Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the 
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the 
effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised 
as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the 
facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw down occurs. 
To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be 
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised 
over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated balance sheet when the obligation 
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the 
carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another 
party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities 
assumed, is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right 
to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

(s) Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time 
that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Qualifying 
assets are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their 
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending 
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for 
capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

(t) Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable 
income based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes 
in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused 
tax losses.
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Current and deferred tax is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income 
or directly in equity, respectively.

(u) Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to 
employees. A provision, where appropriate, is made for the estimated liability for 
annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the end of the 
reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the 
time of leave.

(ii) Pension obligations

Group companies operate various defined contribution pension schemes. The 
schemes are generally funded through payments to insurance companies or trustee-
administered funds, determined by periodic actuarial calculations. The Group pays 
contributions to publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans on a 
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis.

The Group also operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement 
benefits scheme (the “Pension Scheme”) set up pursuant to the Mandatory Provident 
Fund Schemes Ordinance, for all of its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are 
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries. The assets of the 
Pension Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an independently 
administrated fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees 
when contributed to the Pension Scheme, except for the Group’s employer 
voluntary contributions, which are refunded to the Group when the employee leaves 
employment prior to vesting fully in the contributions, in accordance with the rules 
of the Pension Scheme. The Group has no further payment obligations once the 
contributions have been paid. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to 
the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.
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Long service payment

The Group’s employees in Hong Kong are all eligible for long service payment 
under the Hong Kong Employment ordinance in the event of the termination of their 
employment, when they have completed the required number of years of service 
to the Group. The Group is liable to make such payment in the event that such a 
termination of employment meets the circumstances specified in the Hong Kong 
Employment ordinance.

The long service payment liabilities recognised are the present value of the long 
service payment obligation at the end of the reporting period less the entitlement 
accrued under the Group’s Pension Scheme that are attributable to contributions 
made by the Group. The long service payment obligation is calculated annually using 
the projected unit credit method.

Service costs and net interest costs are included in employee benefit expense in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss.  Remeasurement gains and losses arising 
from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised 
in the period in which they occur, directly in other comprehensive income. 

Changes in the present value of the long service payment obligation resulting from 
plan amendments or curtailments are recognised immediately in profit or loss as past 
service costs.

In addition, pursuant to the government regulations in the PRC, the Group is 
required to contribute an amount to certain retirement benefit schemes based on 
approximately 7% to 20% of the wages for the year of those employees in the PRC. 
The local municipal government undertakes to assume the retirement benefits 
obligations of those employees of the Group. Contributions to these retirement 
benefits schemes are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss as 
incurred.

(iii) Profit-sharing and bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-sharing, 
based on a formula that takes into consideration the profit attributable to the 
Company’s shareholders after certain adjustments. The Group recognises a provision 
where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a 
constructive obligation.
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(v) Share-based payments

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plans, under which the 
entity receives services from employees as consideration for equity instruments (options) 
of the Group. The fair values of the employee services received in exchange for the 
grant of the options is recognised as an expense. The total amount to be expensed is 
determined by reference to the fair values of the options granted:

• including any market performance conditions (for example, an entity’s share price);

• excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions 
(for example, profitability, sales growth targets and remaining an employee of the 
entity over a specified time period); and

• including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (for example, the requirement for 
employees to save or hold shares for a specified period of time).

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period which is the period over which all 
of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of 
options that are expected to vest based on the non-marketing performance and service 
conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The proceeds received 
net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital and share 
premium.

The grant by the Company of options over its equity instruments to the employees 
of subsidiary undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital contribution. The fair 
value of employee services received, measured by reference to the grant date fair 
value, is recognised over the vesting period as an increase to investment in subsidiary 
undertakings, with a corresponding credit to equity.

(w) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation 
as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to 
settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be 
required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. 
A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item 
included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required 
to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision 
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
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(x) Other income

(i) Rental income

Rental income from investment property is recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

(ii) Interest income

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost, calculated using the effective 
interest method is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Interest income from financial assets at FVPL is included in the net fair value gain on 
these assets.

(y) Leases (as the lessee for operating leases)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value 
basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the fixed lease payments. Lease 
payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the 
measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate 
cannot be readily determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the 
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would 
have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-
of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions. 
To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group, where possible, uses recent third-
party financing received by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect 
changes in financing conditions since third party financing was received and makes any 
adjustments specific to the lease, for example, term, country, currency and security.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is 
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss over the lease period so as to 
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for 
each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

• the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability,

• prepayment, and

• any initial direct costs.

Entity-specific details about the Group’s leasing policy are provided in Note 35.

(z) Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the 
Group’s and the Company’s financial statements in the period in which the dividends are 
approved by the Company’s shareholders.
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Results Year ended 31 December
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover 1,146,834 1,048,006 1,600,255 1,874,424 1,418,994
Gross profit 346,212 318,689 479,224 637,296 476,364
Profit before income tax 70,973 53,844 173,113 250,861 177,177
Profit for the year attributable to: 62,843 50,038 137,211 213,307 127,808

     

Owners of the Company 58,213 45,895 128,076 195,390 117,949
Non-controlling interests 4,630 4,143 9,135 17,917 9,859
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) 14.4 11.3 30.1* 45.9 27.6
Dividends 20,266 20,266 24,320 37,106 38,576

     

Assets and liabilities As at 31 December
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets 552,503 564,855 598,273 697,091 725,022
Current assets 775,591 868,643 1,071,247 1,261,223 1,061,581
Current liabilities (539,259) (592,286) (716,948) (795,694) (549,000)
Net current assets 236,332 276,357 354,299 465,529 512,581
Non-current liabilities (32,901) (52,799) (50,451) (93,639) (76,420)
Net assets 755,934 788,413 902,121 1,068,981 1,161,183

     

* Adjusted for the bonus issue 2022

Notes: The information of the financial summary for two years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023 have been 
extracted from the audited consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated balance sheet which are 
set out on page 71 to page 75 of the annual report.
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